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PREFACK

HE greatest of English historians, MACAULAY, and one of the most brilliant writers of the
present century, has said: ‘“The history of a country is best told in a record of the lives of its
people.”” In conformity with this idea, the PORTRAIT AND BIOGRAPHICAL RECORD of this

county has been prepared. Instead of going to musty records, and taking therefrom dry statistical
matter that can be appreciated by but few, our corps of writers have gone to the people, the men
and women who have, by their enterprise and industry, brought the county to a rank second to none
among those comprising this great and noble state, and from their lips have the story of their life
struggles. No more interesting or instructive matter could be presented to an intelligent public.
In this volume will be found a record of many whose lives are worthy the imitation of coming
generations. It tells how some, commencing life in poverty, by industry and economy have
accumulated wealth. It tells how others, with limited advantages for securing an education, have
sacome learned men and women, with an influence extending throughout the length and breadth of
the land. It tells of men who have risen from the lower walks of life to eminence as statesmen, and
whose names have become famous. It tells of those in every walk in life who have striven to
succeed, and records how that success has usually crowned their efforts. It tells also of many, very
many, who, not seeking the applause of the world, have pursued ‘‘the even tenor of their way,”’
content to have it said of them, as Christ said of the woman performing a deed of mercy—*“T'hey have
done what they could.”” It tells how that many in the pride and strength-of young manhood left
the plow and the anvil, the lawyer’s office and the counting-room, left every trade and profession,
and at their country’s call went forth valiantly ‘‘to do or die,” and how through their efforts the
Unijon was restored and peace once more reigned in the land. In the life of every man and of every
woman is a lesson that should not be lost upon those who follow after.

Coming generations will appreciate this volume and preserve it as a sacred treasure, from the
fact that it contains so much that would never find its way into public records, and which would
otherwise be inaccessible. Great care has been taken in the compilation of the work, and every
opportunity possible given to those represented to insure correctness in what has been written, and
the publishers flatter themselves that they give to their readers a work with few errors of consequence.
In addition to the biographical sketches, portraits of a number of representative citizens are given.

The faces of some, and biographical sketches of many, will be missed in this volume. For this
the publishers are not to blame. Not having a proper conception of the work, some refused to give
the information necessary to compile a sketch, while others were indifferent. Occasionally some
member of the family would oppose the enterprise, and on account of such opposition the support of
the interested one would be withheld. In a few instances men could never be found, though

repeated calls were made at their residences or places of business.
CrAPMAN PusLisHING Co.

November, 1897.
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EARLY DAYs OF MARYLAND.

F THE beauties and glory of Maryland
historians have written and poets sung.
From the far distant days in its early settle-

ment, over which time has thrown the halo of
romance, to the present age of thriving cities and
valuable country estates, there has been a con-
stant material and commercial development, and
we, who stand in the final lustrum of the nine-
teenth century, may look back over the more than
two hundred and fifty years of Maryland’s his-
tory, with the realization that her name is high
in the galaxy of states and her citizens illustrious
in the annals of the nation. She has given to the
world men of eminence in every walk in life;
gifted orators and men of public affairs, such as
Luther Martin, William Wirt, Daniel Dulany and
William Pinkney; poets whose names are house-
hold words throughout the entire land, such as
Francis Scott Key and Edgar Allen Poe; and a
host of other men, whose wonderful natural gifts
have been heightened by every resource of science
or art and by every facility for intellectual ad-
vancement.

The history of Maryland is best told in the
lives of the people. ‘Their prosperity has meant
her advancement, and their suffering her adver-
sity. ‘T'he character and progress of a state is
largely dependent upon its first settlers. ‘The
people of New England may in some measure owe
the characteristics for which they are noted to
the influence of climate and environment, but to
a large extent they are due to the all-permeating
influences of ancestry, by which is moulded, for
weal or woe, the destiny of generations yet to

come. ‘T'he people of Pennsylvania, also, still

bear in their characters the impress of their
Quaker forefathers, while the enterprise of the
citizens of New York to-day is largely inherited
from their ancestors, the thrifty and energetic
pioneers of New Amsterdam. Very appropri-
ately, then, we may review the history of the
early settlement of Maryland; and from the rec-
ords of its pioneers gain an insight into the traits
that characterize their descendants of to-day.

LORD BALTIMORE,

George Calvert, Baron of Baltimore, was born
in Yorkshire, England, in 1582. When a young
man he became secretary to Sir Robert Cecil,
later was made clerk to the privy council, and
ultimately served as secretary of state to James 1.
This position, however, he resigned in 162;;, be-
cause of his conversion to the Roman Catholic
religion. In 1625 he was given the title of Baron
of Baltimore, in the kingdom of Ireland. During
his secretaryship he obtained a grant of the
province of Avalon, Newfoundland, and made an
effort to secure a settlement there, but failed, Be-
lieving that he could succeed in a more favorable
climate, he visited Virginia, and wasimmediately
impressed by the facilities presented for settlement
upon the Chesapeake Bay. Returning to Eng-
land, he obtained a grant of the province of Mary-
land from King Charles, but early in 1632, when
his charter was ready for passage under the great
seal, he died, and the grant was inherited by his
son, Cecilius Calvert, to whom the charter of
Maryland was granted, June 20, 1632.

The granting of Maryland to Lord Baltimore
aroused the indignation of Virginian colonists,
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owing to the fact that the land lay within the
limits of Virginia according to its charter govern-
ment, and they still considered it a part of their
possessions, although the original charter had
been annulled and the colony was under royal
government after 1625. Some of the residents
of the Old Dominion presented a petition to the
house of commous, asking for the restoration of
the ancient patents, but the governor and council
of the colony remonstrated against a change of
‘charter, and the king’s reply, in July, 1642,
allayed whatever fears they may have had on the
subject. In 1658 the province of Maryland was
surrendered to Fendall, the proprietary’s gover-
nor, after which nothing more is heard concern-
ing Virginia’s claim of Maryland.

BOUNDARY DISPUTES.

While, however, there was no further trouble
regarding the claim, its territorial limits continued
for many years to be the source of constant con-
tention. Not only were there frequent disputes
with Virginia as to the location of Watkin's Pornt,
upon which depended the boundary line between
the eastern shores of Virginia and Maryland, but
there was also considerable controversy with
William Penn about the northern and eastern
boundaries. When James, Duke of York, and a
friend of Penn, came to the throne, the latter pre-
sented an application for a new grant, and met

with success, for in November, 1685, the com- .

missioners of trades and plantations, to whom the
matter had been referred, decided that Lord Bal-
timore’s grant included only ‘‘ lands uncultivated
and inhabited by savages, and that the territory
along the Delaware had been settled by Christians
antecedent to his grant, and was therefore not in-
cluded within it,” and they directed that the
peninsula between the two bays should be divided
into two equal parts by a line drawn from the
latitude of Cape Henlopen to the fortieth degree
of north latitude; and that the western portion
belonged to Baltimore and the eastern to Penn.
When the government of England was taken
from the hands of James and given to William of
Orange, the anti-Catholic feeling that had been
fostered by attending circumstances, extended to

the province of Maryland, and a Protestant asso-
ciation was formed by John Coode and others, to
supersede the proprietary government, which ob-
ject they attained in 1689; but the next year it
was taken from them and afterward remained a
royal government until 1716. A compact was
entered into, May 10, 1732, between Lord Balti-
more and John, Richard and Thomas Penn, the
sons of William Penn by his last marriage. This
agreement provided that the boundaries should
consist of a line beginning at the easternmost
part of Cape Henlopen, and running due west to
the exact middle of the peninsula at that point,
and of a line running from that middle point to
the north, forming a tangent to a circle drawn
around Newcastle, with a radius of twelve miles.
In adjusting the boundary between Maryland and
Pennsylvania, the agreement provided that it
should begin, not at the fortieth degree of lati-
tude as previously provided, but at a latitude fif-
teen English statute miles south of the most
southerly part of Philadelphia. However, the
commissioners appointed to carry out this agree-
ment were of such different opinions that further
negotiations became impossible. Finally, in May,
1738, it was decided to run a temporary line, to
be used until the final adjustment was made, and
the following year this provisional line was
actually run,

The final decision regarding the boundary was
still a matter of doubt when Charles, Lord Balti-
more, died, in April, 1751, and it was left to his
heir, Frederick, to bring to a culmination the
plans for the adjustment of the permanent bound-
ary, which wds finally decided upon by com-
missioners, appointed for the purpose, and who
were engaged in the performance of their duty
from November 19, 1760, to November g9, 1768.

EARLY SETTLEMENTS.

The first settlements within Maryland, made
under the proprietary, were at and near St.
Mary’s City, and were made in 1633-34. Prior
to this a small settlement had been made on Kent
Island, which, after Clayborne’s rebellion, was
brought into submission and formed the nucleus
of the eastern shore settlements. For some years
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afterward these two points were the only settle-
ments in the province, and they formed the
nucleus from which sprang other settlements.
Talbot County was erected in 1661, Somerset
in 1666, Cecil in 1674, Dorchester in 1669, Queen
Annein 1706, Worcester in 1742 and Caroline in
1773. About 1659 Baltimore County was formed
out of the territory north of Anne Arundel, and a
proclamation June 6, 1674, declared that its
southern boundaries should be ‘‘the south side
of Patapsco River, and from the highest planta-
tions on that side of the river, due south two
miles into the woods.”” Cecil County was erected
in 1674, by the proclamation of the governor,
Charles Calvert, its boundaries being described as
extending ‘‘from the mouth of the Susquehanna
River down the eastern side of the bay to Swan
point; thence to Hell point, and so up Chester
River to the head therkof.’”’ ‘T'hese bounds,
slightly varied a few days afterward, remained
until the act of 1706, which enacts that ‘‘Cecil
County shall contain all the lands on the north
side of the Sassafras River and Kent County, and
shall be bounded on the east and north by the
bounds of the province, on the west by the Sus-
quehanna and the bay, and on the south by the
Sassafras River and XKent County. Harford
County was created in 1773, by an act which de-
clares that ‘‘its bounds shall begin at the mouth
of the Little Falls of Gunpowder River, and run
thence with said falls to the fountain head; thence
north to the line of the province; thence with
that line to the Susquehanna River; thence
with that river to the Chesapeake Bay; thence
with the bay, including Spesutia and Pool’s
Islands, to the mouth of Gunpowder River; and
thence up said river to the beginning.”’

THREE HISTORICAI, EPOCHS.

The history of Maryland up to the Revolution
naturally divides itself into three periods. The
first of these extends from the first settlement to
1688, when events were shaping themselves to-
ward the formation of the Protestant association.
The second epoch extends from 1688 to the res-
toration of proprietary power in 1715, and the
third period from that time to the treaty con-

cluded in Paris, in 1763. During the one hun-
dred and thirty years comprised within these
three epochs, the colony had developed from its
incipiency to a prosperous commonwealth. In-
dians had disappeared before the advance of civil-
ization. Cities had been built, and forests trans-
formed into beautiful plantations, where men and
women labored happily and successfully. Settle-
ments had been enlarged and extended, and com-
mercial resources had been developed. Upon the
fair name of the state is no stain of religious per-
secution, no stigma of the exercise of tyrannical
power over the red men of the forest. It wasthe
policy of the men who shaped the government to
protect all who were under it, and hence persecu-
tion was almost unknown in the province. ‘“The
annals of Maryland,’’ in the words of Dr. Ram-
say, ‘‘are barren of those striking events which
illustrate the page of history. This is probably
the reason that so little of its history has been
published. Its internal peace in the period of
infancy was but little disturbed, either by Indians
or insurgents, though not wholly exempt from
either. Its early settlers loved their king and
their proprietary. They were not given to
change, but attached to ancient forms, their na-
tive country and its constitution.’’

By those who are familiar with the early his-
tory of America it will be remembered that the
majority of people who sought homes here did so
in the hope of securing religious freedom. For a
somewhat similar reason were the men influenced
who became the pioneers of Maryland. George
Calvert was an adherent to the doctrines of the
Roman Catholic Church, and while he stood in
favor with the king, his religion was proscribed
and embarrassment to himself ensued. Without
doubt, his thoughts must have often turned to a
country where he might have freedom to wor-
ship as the dictates of his conscience directed. He
visited Virginia, but found there the same intol-
erance to Catholicism exhibited in his native
land. Then it was that he was attracted to the
land lying on both sides of Chesapeake Bay, a
land that seemed unexcelled for fertility of soil
and beauty of climate, and a land that was asyet
unclaimed. His ambitious spirit prompted him
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to attempt to found a settlement here, and had it
not been for his untimely death he would have
witnessed the triumph of his undertaking, the
success of his enterprise. ‘The spirit which
prompted him, and the energy characteristic of
his every action, were inherited by his son,
Cecilius, who, unable to accompany the expedi-
tion in person, consigned it to the care of his
brother, Leonard.

THE PILGRIMS OF MARVLAND.

November 22, 1633, about two hundred per-
sons took passage from the Isle of Wight, en
route to the new world, taking with them all their
worldly possessions, and a large stock of courage
and hope, without which such an expedition
would have soon failed. ‘The most of the voy-
ageurs were Roman Catholics, and some were gen-
tlemen of wealth. It was on the 24th of Febru-
ary, 1634, when, weary with the long voyage
upon the ocean, they landed at Point Comfort,
Va., and from there they sailed up the Potomac
in search of a site for the colony. They journeyed
up St. Mary’s River about seven miles, until
they came to an Indian town, Yaocomoco. The
first act of the governor, Leonard Calvert, was
to purchase the town from the Indians and secure
their consent to his residence within it. March
27, 1634, the pilgrims of Maryland landed at Yao-
comoco and laid the foundations of the old town
of St. Mary’s and of the present commonwealth,
At the expense of the proprietary, the colony
was provided with implements for farming, pro-
visions and clothing, and material for the erection
of houses. During the first few years of its es-
tablishment, the proprietary expended upon it
about forty thousand pounds sterling. His kind-
ness, however, was not limited to the gift of
money and materials. What was far better, his
policy of government was exceptionally good, aud
aroused the confidence of the settlers as well as
secured their happiness. The freemen were con-
vened in assembly, and were made to realize that
the government was their own. Religious lib-
erty was allowed. Courts of justice were intro-
duced and the administration of law was strict

and firm. For seven years the colony prospered,
and when trouble arose, it was from without, not
from within. ‘The succeeding years were years
of strife, occasioned largely by the hostile acts of
William Clayborne, whose name is identified
with almost every act of hostility to Maryland
during the first twenty-five years of its settlement.
In July, 1656, Josias Fendall was commissioned
governor by the proprietary, and the province
formally surrendered to him, March 20, 1658.
However, his rule was of short duration, and
proprietary government was again established.
In 1662 Charles Calvert was sent to the prov-
ince as its governor, and he continued to reside
there until the death of his father, Cecilius, Lord
Baltimore, which occurred November 30, 1675.
His son, Charles, then succeeded to the title and
estates, and, naming his son, Cecil, as nominal
governor, he departed for England, but found
himself and his government the subject of com-
plaint there. Some of the resident clergy of the
province had made representations to the heads
of the established church in England, declaring
that there existed immoralities that required
redress, and as a remedy they proposed the estab-
lishment and endowment of lands. The answer
of the proprietary was easily made. He referred
to the permanent law of the province, tolerating
all Christians; and to the impracticability of pro-
curing the exclusive establishment of any church,
and he was released from the subject by the in-
junction to enforce the laws against immorality
and to endeavor to procure a maintenance for the
support of some of the clergy of the church of
England. In February, 1680 (new style), the
proprietary returned to Maryland, where he re-
mained until 1684, and then went back to Eng-
land, where the peculiar circumstances rendered
it advisable for him to be. Complaints had been
poured into the ear of King Charles, in relation
to the Catholic partialities of the proprietary. It
is said the latter transmitted to the home govern-
ment a list of the officers of the province, which
showed that the majority of the positions were
in the hands of the Protestants, and in reply to
this communication he received an order from
Charles to ‘‘put all the offices into the hands of
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the Protestants.”” ‘This order, too, came from a
king whom no one suspected of being partial to
Protestants.

These and other matters of importance ren-
dered the presence of the proprietary in England
advisable. He therefore named his son, Bene-
dict Leonard Calvert, nominal governor, and de-
parted for England, bidding what was destined
to be a last farewell to his people and adopted
country. Arriving in England in time to witness
the accession of King James II. to the throne, he
found himself called upon to defend his rights,
for that monarch opposed the charter liberties of
the colonial government. Maryland came in for
her full share of trouble. In April, 1687, the
quo warranto against it was issued; but before the
judgment was obtained the king was himself
brought to judgment by the people. Thus, for
a season, Maryland was free from trouble, but
unfortunately it was soon the victim of the
Protestant Association, already referred to.

As we read the history of Cecilius and Charles
Calvert, and, far removed from the age in which
they lived and labored, reflect upon their lives
and characters, we find much to admire. They
were especially noted for the tolerant spirit they
displayed toward all. Persecutions they never
tolerated, and the freedom of opinion which they
demanded for themselves they as freely conceded
to others. Their characters were quiet and gentle,
rather than fiery and impetuous; less resembling
the meteor that flashes across the sky than the
star that shines from year to year, with un-
dimmed lustre. They were less ambitious for
themselves than for their people and their beloved
Maryland, and could they now see the progress
made by the state, the wealth of its industries
and the achievements of its citizens, they would
feel more than repaid for all the toil, all the per-
sonal sacrifice and all the hardships endured by
them in behalf of the province. Chalmers, in
speaking of Cecilius, well says that ‘‘While fan-
aticism deluged the empire, he refused his assent
to the repeal of a law which, in the true spirit of
Christianity, gave liberty of conscience to all.”

The growth of Maryland was rapid. From
1634, when the colony was planted by two hun-

dred persons, to 1660, the increase was constant,
reaching twelve thousand in the latter year. 1In
1665 it had grown to sixteen thousand, and in
1771 was nearly twenty thousand. This popula-
tion was scattered through the country districts,
there being no place except St. Mary's that was
worthy of being called a town. The principal
occupation was tobacco culture, and with few
exceptions the people were planters. Merchants
and manufacturers were almost unknown. To-
bacco was the currency of the province until the
act of 1661 was passed, providing for the estab-
lishment of a mint for the coinage of shillings.
During this era there was a printing press and a
public printer in the province, which is another
proof of the liberty enjoyed by the people, for
the public press is the synonym of liberty.

THE PROTESTANT ASSOCIATION.

In April, 1689, a company was formed which
called itself ‘‘An association in arms for the de-
fense of the Protestant religion and for asserting
the right of King William and Queen Mary to
the province of Maryland and all the English
dominions.”” In August of the same year, the
association came into possession of the province.
Their leader was John Coode, an avowed revolu-
tionist in the cause of religion, and one who, not
long afterward, was convicted, under the Protes-
tant dominion he labored to establish, of blas-
phemies against the Christian religion, he being
at the time a minister in holy orders. Scarcely
had the Protestant government been established
before he was engaged in sedition against it,
Word was dispatched to King William, by a con-
vention that met at St. Mary’s, August 23,
1689, that the deputies and officers of the prov-
ince, civil and military, were under the control
of the Jesuits, and the churches all appropriated
to the uses of what they termed popish idolatry;
and that, with the permission of the government,
murders of every kind were committed by Cath-
olics npon Protestants. Furthermore, they as-
serted that no allegiance was known in the prov-
ince, except that to the proprietary, and that to
acknowledge FEnglish sovereignty was a crime.
When such a plea as this was made, William
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sanctioned the revolution, and with his consent
the province remained under the dominion of the
convention until April, 1692." A royal govern-
ment having been established, Sir Lionel Copley
was made its governor, and soon after he arrived
in Maryland he dissolved the convention, April
9, 1692.

The Church of England was, by the act of
1692, made the state religion, and from that year
until the American Revolution, it remained the
established church of the province. In 1704 an
act was passed, by which all bishops and priests
of the Catholic Church were prohibited from say-
ing mass; Catholics generally were not allowed
to engage in the instruction of youth. However,
at the same session, an act was passed, allowing
priests to exercise their spiritual functions in
private families of Catholics. In 1702 the pro-
visions of the English toleration act were ex-
tended to the Protestants of the province, so that
the Quakers, heretofore persecuted, were given
special favors. Catholics, however, still con-
tinued under the ban of persecution. ‘This was
remarkable, when we take into consideration the
fact that the colony had been planted by Cath-
olics, fostered and nurtured by them, and through
their efforts brought to a position of influence
anong other colonies. Yet, in the province, they
were finally the only victims of religious in-
tolerance.

REMOVAL OF THE CAPITAL.

In the winter of 1694-95 the courts and assem-
bly were removed from St. Mary’s to Anne
Arundel town, which, at the next session, ac-
quired the name of the Port of Annapolis, and
was made acity, August 16, 1708, by the charter
of Governor John Seymour. While, so far as
population was concerned, it never became note-
worthy, it was remarkable for the hospitality
of its people and for their display of wealth.
These two facts drew to it men of liberal attain-
ments, men whose qualifications fitted them for
society, and who, in turn, honored the city by
their presence. A French writer alludes to the
elegance of the homes, and others of that time
mention the beautiful residences, but the follow-

ing lines, written by E. Cookein his ‘‘Voyage to
Maryland,”’ gives another view of the place:
“To try the cause, then fully bent,
Up to Annapolis I went;
A city situate on a plain,
Where scarce a house will keep out rain;
The buildings framed with cypress rare,
Resemble much our Southwark Fair;
But strangers there will scarcely meet
With market place, exchange or street;
And, if the truth I may report,
It’s not so large as Tottenham Court.”

EARLY GOVERNORS.

During the royal government, Sir Lionel Cop-
ley, Sir Edmond Andros, Francis Nicholson,
Nathaniel Blackiston, John Seymour and John
Hart, acted as governors of the province. Cop-
ley, as the first Protestant governor, was joyfully
received by the people of his faith, and he retained
the confidence of his people, but his administra-
tion was of brief duration. Andros, who was
also governor for a short time only, is the same
man whose name is well known in connection
with the history of New England, while Francis
Nicholson is distinguished in the history of New
York as the deputy governor of that colony under
Andros, atthe time of its annexation to the New
England colonies. At his suggestion a public

- post was established in the province. The post-

man was bound to travel the route, from the
Potomac'to Philadelphia, eight times a year, and
it was his duty to carry all public messages, and
bring and leave letters for the people, for which
he was given a salary of fifty pounds sterling.
When the first postman died, in 16¢8, the system
was dropped permanently.

THE RESTORATION OF THE BALTIMORES.

The question of religion was the sole reason
for preventing the proprietary to stand at the
head of the province. Realizing this,and feeling
anxious in behalf of his children, Charles Calvert,
the deposed proprietary, induced his heir, Bene-
dict Leonard Calvert, to unite with the established
church. ‘The father passed away February 20,
1714, and the son, April 16, 1715, not having
survived his father long enough to derive any
benefits from his title to the province. ‘The next



EARLY DAYS OF MARYLAND.

heir was Charles, who, as well as the other chil-
dren of the late proprietary, was educated in the
doctrines of Protestantism. 'The claims of the
Baltimore family were sustained by George I.,
the new king, who restored the proprietary gov-
erment in May, 1715, after twenty-six years of
royal government. From the re-establishment
of the original government until the treaty of
Paris, there were few events of importance in the
history of Maryland. Charles, Lord Baltimore,
the fifth of that title, died April 23, 1751, and the
government passed to his infant son, Frederick.

MARYLAND IN THE FRENCH AND INDIAN WAR.

The French war began in 1754 and closed with
the treaty of Paris in 1763. This was a conflict
in which Maryland, as a province, was mnot in-
terested, as its own possessions were not threat-
ened. To Virginia it was important, for her
right to valuable territory was involved. The
colony of Maryland, regarding it as a war of
ambition merely, refused to participate in it,
although England commanded it and Virginia
entreated its assistance. However, such con-
tributions as were expected of them were cheer-
fully given. Five hundred pounds were appro-
priated by the assembly for the purpose of presents
to the Indians, whose assistance was desired. The
plan of proposed union of colonists, however,
did not meet the approval of the colonists, who
were very loyal to their charter government.

A new aspect was given to the war by the
events of 1754. Colonel Washington with his
Virginia troops was captured at Little Meadows,
and the French fort, DuQuesne, threatened the
frontier settlements of Maryland and Virginja.
Feeling the need of immediate action, the assem-
bly was convened, and six thousand pounds were
appropriated to be applied to the defense of Vir-
ginia and to the support of the wives and children
of Indian allies. The campaign of 1755 brought
the defeat of the expedition under General Brad-
dock and the consequent terror of all the fron-
tier settlers. ‘The assembly of Maryland, in re-
sponse to a call, voted a supply of forty thousand
pounds, of which eleven thousand were to be ap-
plied to the building of a fort and block house on

the frontier and twenty-five thousand were to be
used in aild of any general expedition. Fort
Frederick was erected, and before the close of the
year received a garrison of two hundred men.
The frontier continued in a state of jeopardy in
1756 and 1757, but with 1758 this period of anx-
iety passed away, for the capture of Fort
Du Quesne put an end to French power in the
west. Peace was restored in 1763 by the treaty
of Paris, which terminated French power in
Canada and made the Mississippi the boundary
of the British possessions.

ENGLAND’S POLICY OF TAXATION.

Meantime the population of Maryland had
largely increased. 1In 1733 the number of tax-
able inhabitants was thirty-one thousand four
hundred and seventy; in 1748, one hundred and
thirty thousand; in 1756, one hundred and fifty-
four thousand one hundred and eighty-eight, and
in 1761, one hundred and sixty-four thousand
and seven, ‘Tobacco continued to be the chief
source of wealth of the colonists. In 1731, sixty
thousand hogsheads of six hundred pounds each
were shipped, and among the other exports were
wheat, lumber, corn, flour, etc., but these were in-
considerable in value. The treaty of 1763 brought
peace to the colonies and the possessions of Eng-
land were now considered secure from all foreign
aggressions. It was at this time that parliament
resolved to take the taxation of the colonies in
her own hands, and, while possibly some com-
plaint was expected, resistance was not looked
for. Of all the colonies, none was more familiar
than Maryland with the claim to exemption from
all taxation not sanctioned by the inhabitants.
It was one of the fundamental principles of their
government., Succeeding assemblies had guarded
this right, resisting even the slightest approach
to its infringement. The terms of their charter
declared them entitled to all the privileges of
English subjects and exempted them from all
taxations of any description. As might be read-
ily supposed, any infringement upon this ex-
emption would be submitted to reluctantly, and
that from necessity.

The tax was proposed with caution and oper-
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ated indirectly, but it need not be supposed that
a pill is more pleasant to the taste because it is
gilded. In the winter of 1763-64, Lord Gren-
ville, under whose ministry the plan was con-
ceived, announced his intention to propose a
duty on stamps, for the purpose of raising a reve-
nue from the colonies. ‘The mere intimation of
a stamp tax aroused the wrath of the colonists,
and public meetings were held and remonstrances
made, but all to no effect. March 22, 1765, the
stamp tax was imposed. The Maryland Gazetle,
established by Jonas Green of Annapolisin 1745,
became noted for its opposition to the stamp act,
and itsinfluence was felt throughout the entire
province. Among the talented men who took
the part of the colonies from the first and wielded
a powerful influence in their behalf was the illus-
trious Samuel Chase, then a young man, tal-
ented, eloquent and profound, an acknowledged
leader of men. At the age of twenty-four, in
the legislature, he was conspicuous as the cham-
pion of liberty, and his burning eloquence and
great talent were laid at the altar for the service
of his country. Of all the brave and able men
whom Maryland has given to the nation, his
fame is among the greatest and his memory the
most enduring. He scorned that sycophantic
character which stoops to petty meanness or gives
up freedom of thought in order to gain prominence
or power. He was perfectly frank in the expres-
sion of his opinions, with a hatred of hypocrites
and king-servers. He assisted his home country
in her hour of danger, and his timely service
will cause his name to live forever in the annals
of the nation.

DANIEL DULANY.

There was another whom Maryland holds in
proud remembrance for his service in colonial
days, a man of profound learning, intense patri-
otic spirit, fervid eloguence and a command ot
language seldom surpassed. This was Daniel
Dulany, once the pride of Maryland. He was
the son of Daniel Dulany, Sr., who served as at-
torney-general, judge of the admiralty, commis-
sary-general, agent and receiver-general and
councillor, and was for forty years omne of the

most eminent men of the state. Inheriting from
his father the qualities that made the latter so in-
fluential, Daniel Dulany, Jr., added to these by
education and cultivation, and became eminent
throughout the entire country.  Little is known
concerning his youth. Probably he was educated
in England, deriving his broad knowledge from
its splendid seats of learning. He was admitted
to the bar of the provincial court in 1747, and ten
years later became a member of the council, hold-
ing that office, as well as being secretary of the
province, until the Revolution. As an orator,
doubtless, in the history of our country few have
equalled him. His influence over his hearers
was wonderful. Whatever might be the subject
—whether some knotty point of law, some legal
technicality, or some subject in connection with
the management of public affairs—he was alike
potent in his influence upon his auditors. The
law was his specialty, and in its practice he
achieved his greatest triumphs. “To this day his
opinions are quoted as authority by those who
stand highest at the bar.

From this man, himself a tower of strength in
his land, as he would have been in any country,
came a celebrated essay denouncing the stamp
act, an article so pointedly written as to drive
British authority to the necessity of combating
with the principles of the English constitution.
The language was so simple that anyone could
understand, the thoughts so logical that no one
could denounce, and the arguments so pointed as
as to be convincing and powerful. As the defender
of the liberty of the colonists, he gained the grati-
tude of his fellow-men, who intheir hearts’ deep-
est affection cherished him as their champion.

THE TAX ON TEA.

After the repeal of the stamp act, Maryland for
a short time enjoyed a season of quiet, undisturbed
by public questions or contention with the mother
country. However, a new system of colonial
taxation was adopted in 1767 by parliament,
which had been waiting for a fitting opportunity
to gain the end they so ardently desired. ‘The
new method consisted in imposing a duty on
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articles of import, including tea, paper, glass, etc.
In Maryland, as at the time of the passage of the
stamp act, public indignation was aroused to fever
heat. Acting with the other colonies, the prov-
ince adopted a non-importing system, which of
course at once affected England financially. May
9, 1769, several merchants of Amnnapolis issued
a circular to the people of the surrounding coun-
ties, inviting them to a meeting at Annapolis,
“for the purpose of consulting on the most effect-
ual means of promoting frugality and lessening
the future importation of goods from Great Brit-
ain.””  The meeting was held and a non-im-
portation association was formed for the province,
providing that those connected therewith should
not import any species of merchandise taxed by
parliament, and forbidding the purchase of any of
the prohibited articles when imported by others.
Soon, however, the other colonies, once so en-
thusiastic in this measure, began to weaken, and
the merchandise was introduced, which rendered
further resistance on the part of Maryland useless.

As the badge of English supremacy, the duty
on tea was continued. The trade in it was a
source of great revenue to the East India Com-
pany, but as the colonists refused to receive it,
one of their principal markets was closed to them
and a large quantity of the tea accumulated. In
May, 1773, the company was allowed, by act of
parliament, a drawback upon the duty, so while
the duty was submitted to, the price of the tea
was not enhanced. The company immediately
shipped large quantities to Charleston, Phila-
delphia, New York and Boston, but the people
were too shrewd to be deceived. In Charleston
it was finally landed, but never put on sale, while
the ships never landed in Philadelphia and New
York. In Boston, the circumstances gave rise to
the celebrated Boston tea party, illustrious in
history. Asa consequence of the act, Boston was
deprived of its privileges as a port of entry.
Maryland heard the news concerning Boston with
indignation and a general convention was called,
which met at Annapolis, June 22, 1774. The
town was in a state of excitement. Illustrious
men from every part of the state gathered there,
to discuss plans of concerted acticn. Everywhere

the feeling of indignation was noticeable. The
delegates who attended this convention were
named as follows:

St. Mary County —Col. Abraham Barnes, Hen-
ry Greenfield Sothoron and Jeremiah Jordan.

Kent County — William Ringgold, Thomas
Ringgold, Joseph Nicholson, Jr., Thomas Smith
and Joseph Earle.

Queen Anne County—Turbutt Wright, Richard
Tilghman Earle, So. Wright, John Brown and
Thomas Wright.

Prince, George County—Robert Tyler, Joseph
Sim, Joshua Beall, John Rogers, Addison Mur-
dock, William Bowie, B. Hall and Osboru Sprigg.

Anne Arundel County and city of Annapolis—
Charles Carroll, B. T'. B. Worthington, Thomas
Johnson, Jr., Samuel Chase, John Hall, Will-
iam Paca, Matthias Hammond, Samuel Chew,
John Weems, Thomas Dorsey and Rezin Ham-
mond.

Baltimore County and Baltimore Town—Capt.
Charles Ridgely, Thomas Cockey Deye, Walter
Tolley, Jr., Robert Alexander, William Lux,
Samuel Purviance, Jr., and George Risteau.

Talbot County—Matthew Tilghman, Edward
Lloyd, Nicholas Thomas and Robert Golds-
borough, 4th.

Dorchester County— Robert Goldsborough,
William Eunnalls, Henry Steele, John Ennals,
Robert Harrison, Col. Henry Hooper and Mathew
Brown.

Somerset County—Peter Wateré, John Waters
and George Dashiell.

Charles County—William Smallwood, Francis
Ware, Josias Hawkins, Joseph Hanson Harrison,
Daniel Jenifer, John Dent and Thomas Stone.

Calvert County—John Weems, Edward Rey-
nolds and Benjamin Mackall. _

Cecil County—John Veazey, Jr.,, William
Ward and Stephen Hyland.

Worcester County—Peter Chaille, John Done,
and William Morris.

Frederick County—Thomas Price, Alexander
Contee Hanson, Baker Johnson, Andrew Scott,
Richard Thomas, Richard Brooke,
Cramphin, Jr., and Allen Bowie, Jr.

Harford County—Richard Dallam, John Love,

Thomas
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Thomas Bond, John Paca, Benedict Edward Hall
and Jacob Bond.

Caroline County — Thomas White, William
Richardson, Isaac Bradley, Nathaniel Potter and
Thomas Goldsborough.

The former provisions for preventing the im-
portation of tea were again taken up. October
14, 1774, the brig ‘‘Polly Stewart’’ arrived at
Annapolis, having on board seventeen packages
of tea, consigned to Thomas Williams & Co.,
merchants of that city. The duties were paid by
Anthony Stewart, a part owner of the vessel. It
was at once determined by some of the citizens
that the tea should not be landed, and a commit-
tee was appointed to prevent its landing. Ap-
prehensive of the consequences, Mr. Stewart con-
sented to the destruction of the tea and even
signed a written apology, and finally, believing
that nothing else would satisfy the people, he
consented to destroy his vessel, which he did,
setting fire to it with his own hand.

PREPARATIONS FOR WAR.

As days passed, the excitement increased. In
a letter from Maryland, in March, 1775, Eddis
says: ‘“‘From one extremity of this continent to
the other, every appearance indicates approach-
ing hostilities. ‘The busy voice of preparation
echoes through every settlement, and those who
are not zealously infected with the general frenzy
are considered as enemies to the cause of liberty,
and, without regard to any peculiarity of situa-
tion, are branded with opprobrious appellations
and pointed out as victims of public resentment.”’
All persons between fifteen and sixty were recom-
mended to form themselves into companies, to
equip themselves with arms and to engage in
military exercises. Liberty was the motto of
the hour, the watchword of every citizen and so-
ciety. A committee of safety was organized in
July, 1775, with the following members: Matthew
Tilghman, John Beale Bordley, Robert Golds-
borough, James Holyday, Richard Lloyd, Edward
Lloyd, Thomas Smith and Henry Hooper for the

eastern shore; Daniel of St. Thomas Jenifer,

Thomas Johnson, Jr., William Paca, Charles
Carroll, Thomas Stone, Samuel Chase, Robert

Alexander and Charles Carroll of Carrollton, for
the western shore. Upon the re-organization of
the committee, in January, 1776, the members
were Daniel of St. Thomas Jenifer, Charles Car-
roll, John Hall and Benjamin Rumsey, for the
western shore; James Tilghman, Thomas Smith
and Thomas B. Hands, for the eastern shore. At
the last organization, in May, 1776, the mem-
bers were the same as before, with the addition
of George Plater for the western shore and Will-
iam Hayward for the eastern shore.

Every preparation was made for war. It was
felt that liberty must be secured, even at the
fearful price of bloodshed. The province of
Maryland, knowing that a Declaration of Inde-
pendence would be adopted in Philadelphia, but
not waiting to hear of it, adopted a declaration
July 6, 1776, that in dignity of language is scarce-
ly inferior to the more famous instrument signed
in Philadelphia. Maryland was passing through
a stage of transformation. 'The last proprietary
governor, Mr. Eden, had left the province, -and
it was decided to adopt a permanent form of gov-
ernment. Accordingly, delegates met in conven-
tion at Annapolis, August 14, 1776, and pre-
pared a charter of rights, which was printed and
sent throughout the province. October 2, the
convention again assembled, and a constitution
was adopted on the 8th, and a declaration of
rights on the 3d of November. Under the new
constitution the first assembly met February s,
1777, and the new government was organized
February 13-14, by the election of Thomas John-
son as the first governor, and Charles Carroll,
Sr., Josiah Polk, John Rogers, Edward Lloyd
and John Contee as the first executive council.
Thus was introduced the state government of
Maryland, and from that period it stands as one
of the thirteen original states, a bulwark of the
nation’s honor, a stanch defender of the coun-
try’s liberty.

THE HEROES OF MARYLAND.

The part taken by the men of Maryland in the

Revolution is one of which every lover of the

state may well be proud. In all the hardships
of the war, when food was scarce and clothing



EARLY DAVYS OF MARYLAND.

insufficient to protect the wounded limbs and feet
from the bitter cold, their voices were never
heard in complaint. Where the battle thickest
raged, there they were to be seen. Terrorscould
not fright them nor danger appall. True sons
of liberty, they loved their country better than
life itself. Liberty was dearer to them than the
comforts of home. Many of them fell in battle,
their last prayer being in behalf of their loved
land; many perished from exposure to storm and
from insufficient food, but though they never
lived to enjoy the freedom for which they sought,
they were none the less true saviors of their
country, and they can never be forgotten, as long
as a love of liberty is cherished by their descend-
ants. The existence of ohr government, a free

and independent nation, is the monument reared
by their efforts, a monument more glorious than
those of brass or marble, and one that can
never be destroyed while the descendants of those
brave men emulate the virtues and the valor of
their forefathers. Of those patriots we may say,
with the poet:

‘‘Soldiers of dear Maryland,
In Nature’s bravest mould,
You wear the fame of princes,
Nor bought with prince’s gold.

“Your loyalty and valor,
A heritage for kings,
Mother-land, fair Maryland,
A poet loves and sings.”
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- INTRODUCTORY

IOGRAPHY alone can justly represent the progress of local history and portray with accuracy
the relation of men to events, It is the only means of perpetuating the lives and deeds of
those men to whom the advaucement of a city or county and the enlightenment of its people

are due.  The compilers of this work have striven to honor, not only men of present prominence,
but also, as far as possible, those who in years gone by labored to promote the welfare of their com-
munity.  ‘The following sketches have been prepared from the standpoint of no man’s prejudice,
but with animpartial aim to render justice to progressive and public-spirited citizens and to collect
personal records that will be of value to generations yet to come.

To be forgotten has been the great dread of mankind from remotest ages. All will be forgotten
soon enough, in spite of their best works and the most earnest efforts of their friends to preserve the
memory of their lives. The means employed to prevent oblivion and to perpetuate their memory
have been in proportion to the amount of intelligence they possessed. The pyramids of Egypt were
built to perpetuate the names and deeds of their great rulers. The exhumations made by the
archzeologists of Egypt from buried Memphis indicate a desire of those people to perpetuate the
memory of their achievements. The erection of the great obelisks was for the same purpose.
Coming down to a later period, we find the Greeks and Romans erecting mausoleums and
monuments, and carving out statues to chronicle their great achievements and carry them down the
ages. It is also evident that the Mound-builders, in piling up their great mounds of earth, had but
this idea—to leave something to show that they had lived. All these works, though many of them
costly in the extreme, give but a faint idea of the lives and character of those whose memory they
were intended to perpetuate, and scarcely anything of the masses of the people that then lived. The
great pyramids and some of the obelisks remain objects only of curiosity; the mausoleums,
monuments and statues are crumbling into dust.

It was left to modern ages to establish an intelligent, undecaying, immutable method of
perpetuating a full history—immutable in that it is almost unlimited in extent and perpetual in its
action; and this is through the art of printing.

To the present generation, however, we are indebted for the introduction of the admirable
system of local biography. By this system every man, though he has not achieved what the world
calls greatness, has the means to perpetuate his life, his history, through the coming ages.

The scythe of Time cuts down all; nothing of the physical man is left. ‘T‘he monument which
his children or friends may erect to his memory in the cemetery will crumble into dust and pass
away; but his life, his achievements, the work he has accomplished, which otherwise would be
forgotten, is perpetuated by a record of this kind. )

To preserve the lineaments of our companions we engrave their portraits; for the same reason
we collect the attainable facts of their history. Nor do we think it necessary, as we speak only
truth of them, to wait until they are dead, or until those who know them are gone; to do this we
are ashamed only to publish to the world the history of those whose lives are unworthy of public

record.
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NOCH PRATT. One of Maryland’s widest
known and most prominent men, and the
founder of the great public library that bears

his name was Enoch Pratt, who was born at
North Middleboro, Plymouth County, Mass.,
September 10, 1808, and died at his home in the
.city of Baltimore, September 17, 1896. At the
age of fifteen he graduated from an academy at
Bridgewater, Mass., after which he obtained a
position as clerk in a Boston store, and after thus
accumulating $150, he started in business in Balti-
more as a commission hardware merchant and
later as a wholesale dealer in iron. After a time
his cousin, Martin Keith, was admitted into part-
nership, and about ten years later his younger
brother became a member of the firm, which took
the name of E. Pratt & Bro. After the death of
the brother, David, Henry Janes became associ-
ated with Mr. Pratt, and after the death of Mr.
Janes, the latter’s son, Henry Pratt Janes, became
a partner and remained so until Mr. Pratt’s
death.

In 1860 Mr. Pratt became president of the
Farmers and Planters’ Bank, having previously
been one of its directors for many years, and as
he worked untiringly in its interests it became
one of the most stable of Baltimore’s financial in-
stitutions. He was honored by his fellow-bankers
as their dean, and by them was made president of
the Baltimore Clearing House Association and
president of the Maryland State Bankers’ Associa-
tion. In 1877 he was chosen a finance commis-
sioner of the city and during the many years that
he filled this position his foresight and prudence
greatly enhanced the values of the city’s secur-
ities. With but one short interval he filled this
position until 18g4. In 1880 he was the Repub-

lican nominee for congress, but declined the office.
His name was frequently mentioned for guber-
natorial honors. At the time of his death he wasa
director in the Seaboard, Roanoke & Wilmington
Railroad, and the Columbia & Augusta Railroad
Companies, the Bay Line Steamboat Company,
the Savings Bank of Baltimore, and the Mary-
land and Peabody Fire Insurance Companies.
In former years he had been prominently con-
nected with other railroad enterprises and steam-
boat and canal companies.

Mr. Pratt’s public spirit manifested itself in the
donation of $1,145,833.33 for a free publiclibrary,
which included $250,000 which had been expend-
ed by him for the grounds and main library build-
ing, on Mulberry street, and $50,000 used for
four branch libraries. The formal opening of
the library took place January 4, 1886. It has
proved of benefit to thousands, and as Mr. Pratt
expressed it, ‘‘rich and poor, without distinction
of race or color,” can avail themselves of its ad-
vantages. The fundsof the Enoch Pratt Library
now amount to $1,174,100, and the patrons of the
library now number 74, 858, which record shows
that the founder was right when he felt that the
public would appreciate such a gift. Mr. Pratt
was president of the board of trustees and spent
part of each day directing the operations of the
institution. He was also for years one of the
trustees of the Peabody Institute, and as its treas-
urer his financial experience was of great benefit
to it.

A farm owned by Mr. Pratt at Cheltenham was
given by him to found the House of Reformation
and Instruction for Colored Children, who sorely
needed such assistance. In former years he was
one of the managers of the Maryland House of
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Correction, and at the time of his death was presi-
dent of the School for the Deaf and Dumb, at Fred-
erick, Md. He contributed largely of his means
to this institution and also took great interest in
the Nursery and Child’s Hospital. Many clocks
and bells were presented by him to different in-
stitutions, and to his native town of North Mid-
dleboro he gave $30,000 to endow Pratt Academy
in 1867. In 1892 he purchased the fine old
house at the corner of Cathedral and Franklin
streets, and made a gift of it to the Maryland
Academy of Science, by which society he was
made honorary life patron. A volume might
be filled with his deeds of philanthropy and char-
ity: suffice it to say that no man in the state was
more venerated, respected and loved than he.
His life was filled with good deeds and his name
will be inseparably connected with many institu-
tions as long as they endure. He was one of the
most entertaining and approachable of men, en-
joyed a joke most thoroughly and was noted for
his witty and pointed remarks.

August 1, 1839, he was united in marriage with
Miss Maria Louise Hyde, a native of Massachu-
setts, whose ancestors were among the first set-
tlers of that state. On her mother’s side she is
descended from a German family, which located
in Baltimore more than one hundred and fifty
years ago. She and Mr. Pratt remained child-
less, and prior to his death they had celebrated
the fifty-seventh anniversary of their marriage.
Mr. Pratt’s ancestors were sturdy New England-
ers, and the founder of the family in this country
avas Phineas Pratt, who arrived in Plymouth in
1623, and died at Charlestown, Mass., in 1680.
Mr. Pratt’s mother was descended from Rev.
James Keith, who came hither from Scotland in
1662.

OHN BROOKE BOYLE, M. D., who com-
mands the respect of the public by his upright
life, and wins their support by means of his

skill and ability in his profession, was born in
Frederick County, Md., January 8, 1849. The
house in which he opened his eyes to the light

was also the birthplace of his father, Hon. John
Brooke Boyle. His grandfather was one of the
early settlers of Frederick County, where his death
occurred many years ago. His father was a man
of much prominence and represented his district
in the state legislature for several terms. He was
also clerk of the court for some years, and for half
a century was regarded as one of the political
leaders in Westminster. His business connection
was with the Western Maryland Railroad Com-
pany of which he was secretary and treasurer for a
long period. He was also a director in several
banks, and attained an eminence in both political
and business circles that made him one of the
most prominent men of the state. In religious
faith he was a Catholic. He married Elizabeth
M. Scott, a native of Frederick County, and a.
daughter of John Scott, an extensive land owner
and farmer. She was also a cousin of Francis
Scott. She died in 1876, and Mr. Boyle passed
away in April, 1896. They were the parents of
nine children, seven of whom are living. Dr.
Daniel Scott; Dr. Charles Bruce, a native of
Frederick County, now a practicing physician
at Hagerstown, Md.; Henry, a farmer of Frederick
County; Dr. John B.; Norman Bruce, of West-
minster; Joseph B., who is postmaster at that
place; and Mrs. Charles E. Fink, of Westminster,
whose husband is states attorney in Carroll
County.

Dr. Boyle, of this review, acquired his educa-
tion in Westminster, and in Calvert College of
New Windsor, after which he came to Baltimore
in 1866, matriculating in the medical department
of the University of Maryland, where he was
graduated in 1869, with the degree of M. D. For
six months he was resident physician at Bay View
Asylum, and then began practice in Fast Balti-
more, where he remained for ten years, when he
removed to his present location, building the first
house north of Eager street. His practice is gen-
eral and he receives from the public a liberal
patronage. For six years he served as physician
in the Maryland penitentiary under theadministra-
tions of Governor Whyte and Governor Hamilton,
and for twenty-three years has been house phy-
sician in the institution of the Sisters of the Poor.
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He has a broad and comprehensive knowledge of
the science of medicine; his efforts having been
crowned with excellent success both professionally
and financially, he is justly accorded a leading
place among his professional brethren.

Dr. Boyle is a member of St. Ignatius’ Catholic
Church. He gives his political support to the
Democratic party, and for one term represented
the eighth ward in the first branch of the city
council, taking an active part in all interests cal-
culated to advance the welfare of the city.

e e

EV. J. FRANK BRYAN, pastor of Bethany
Methodist Protestant Church, of Baltimore,
was born near Chesterville, Kent County,

Md., in 1870, being a member of one of the old
families of the eastern shore. In an early day in
the settlement of America, some of this name
came from England and established homes on the
eastern shore, where succeeding-generations have
resided, taking an active part in the various in-
dustries that have contributed to the development
of the material resources of their locality.

The paternal grandfather of our subject was
John Bryan, for many years a prominent farmer
of the eastern shore, where he spent the principal
portion of his life. He was a man of prominence
and the owner of large tracts of land. His po-
litical affiliations were with the Democrats in
early days, but on the organization of the Repub-
lican party he became an adherent ot its prin-
ciples, which he afterward supported. Two of
his sous, John and Joshua, were ordained as local
preachers of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and
in its ministry they accomplished much good for
the cause.

Richard Bryan, our subject’s father, was born
on the eastern shore, where he afterward owned
and cultivated a farm near Chesterville. In ad-
dition to the raising of grain he took an interest
in the fruit business, planting an orchard on his
place and making a specialty of the cultivation
of peaches. He was a lover of horses and on his
farm had a number of fine specimens of equine

flesh. Never solicitous for public office, he con-
tented himself with the quiet discharge of his
duties as a citizen and with the casting of a Re-
publican vote at elections. At the age of ten
years he was converted and united with the Meth-
odist Episcopal Church, of which he has since
been a consistent member, for many years hav-
ing held office in the congregation. His home is
still on the farm where he was born and reared.
A lifelong resident of that locality, he naturally
cherishes an affection for Kent County and an
interest in the welfare of its citizens, and -doubt-
less the community has no resident more loyal to
its interests than he,

For his wife Richard Bryan chose Anna R.
Taylor, daughter of Franklin Taylor, but she
passed from this life in 1884, when only thirty-
five years of age. Her mother, in maidenhood,
was a Miss Hayes, an aunt of President Ruth-
erford B. Hayes. Her father, who in early
years engaged in the mercantile business in Ches-
terville, Md., afterward removed to Wilming-
ton, Del., where for a time he continued in
the same business. However, he is now living
retired, enjoying the freedom from care which
his seventy useful years have justly earned him.
Our subject has three brothers and two sisters,
namely: Benjamin A., now a studentin college,
where he is preparing for the ministry; Ida M.,
wife of Robert Metcalf; Thomas H., who is with
his father on the home farm; Richard Moffett,
also at home; and Anna R., who is attending
school in Chestertown.

The childhood years of our subject’s life were
spent with his grandfather Bryan, but the latter
died when he was a child of twelve years, and he
then returned to his parents. His education,
begun in the common schools, was later con-
tinued in the Western Maryland College. With
the intention to enter the ministry, he became a
student in the Westminster Theological Semi-
nary, where he gained the thorough knowledge
of the Bible necessary to those who would min-
ister to the spiritual welfare of others. Entering
the conference of the Methodist Protestant Church,
he was given a charge at Ellicott City, Md., and
from there was transferred to his present pastor-
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ate, Bethany Methodist Protestant Church, cor-
ner of Lafayette avenue and Washington street.
With a membership of one hundred and sixty, it
has flattering prospects, under the leadership of its
consecrated and earnest pastor, of a steady in-
crease in numbers. In addition to his regular
pastoral work, Mr. Bryan has given some atten-
tion to evangelizing, and has a number of en-
gagements to fill as an evangelist. Fraternally
he is connected with the Junior Order of American
Mechanics and other orders, but the principal
part of his thought and time is devoted to his
chosen profession, it being his ambition to lead
men and women upward in the spiritual life and
thus promote the cause of Christ.

ON. WILLIAM H. B. FUSSELBAUGH,
of J., ex-member of the state legislature, is
one of Baltimore’s distinguished citizens.

Whether the elements of success in life are innate
attributes of the individual or whether they are
quickened by a process of circumstantial develop-
ment it is impossible to clearly determine. Yet
the study of a successful life is none the less in-
teresting and profitable by reason of the existence
of this same uncertainty. So much in excess of
that of successes is the record of failures or semi-
failures that one is constrained to attempt an an-
alysis in either case and to determine the method
or causation in an approximate way. The march
of improvement and progress is accelerated day
by day and each successive moment seems to de-
mand of men a broader intelligence and a greater
discernment than did the preceding.. Successful
men must be live men in this age, bristling with
activity, and the lessons of biography may be far
reaching to an extent not superficially evident.
Mr. Fusselbaugh is one of Baltimore’s success-
ful merchants and prominent political leaders.
His great-grandfather, John Henry Fusselbaugh,
was a native of Germany, and at an early day
took up his residence in Baltimore. Here he
owned a large sand bank and was a dealer in
building materials until his death, in 1814. His
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son, William Fusselbaugh, born in Baltimore in
May, 1800, was a painter and glazier and dealt ex-
tensively in paints, oils, brushes, etc., establishing
his store on Gay street in 1833. In 1841 he re-
moved to the present location of our subject,
where he continued business until his death, in
1847. He was a member of the jail board. He
wedded Mary Donovan, a native of Baltimore, and
a daughter of Valentine Donovan, a builder and
contractor, of Irish descent. Mrs. Fusselbaugh
died in 1833, and the grandfather afterward mar-
ried Mary Ann O'Laighlin.

John Fusselbaugh, father of our subject, was
born in Baltimore, and was connected with the
Adams Express Company as superintendent of
their business in Washington. He married Ao-
manda M. Reilley, a native of Baltimore, whose
father was the keeper of the North Point Light
House. She died in 1862. Mr. Fusselbaugh
died in December, 1865, in Baltimore.

William H. B. Fusselbaugh, of J. was born in
the city which is still his home, July 29, 1854,
and from the age of ten years was reared by an
uncle, for whom he was named. He attended
the common schools until sixteen years of age,
when he passed an examination admitting him
to membership in the Baltimore City College.
In his youth he was apprenticed to a paper
hanger, serving a four years’ term, after which
he worked at his trade for six months for others.
On attaining his majority he started in business
for himself at No. 422 Gay street, and soon se-
cured a liberal patronage. His store room runs
through to Ensor street, No. 411, where he car-
ries a fine and complete line of wall paper, hang-
ings, shades, and other material for interior dec-
orations. He has had the contracts for complet-
ing the finishings in some of the finest houses in
the city. He is a man of superior business ability,
earnest purpose and unquestioned integrity and
is to-day conducting a large establishment, his
business having been acquired through his own
efforts.

Mr. Fusselbaugh was married in Baltimore to
Miss Alice Shaw, a native of this city, and a
daughter of B. Shaw, for some years captain of
the fire department. She died leaving one child,
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John. Our subject was again married, hissecond
union being with Miss Laura J. Hickman, a na-
tive of Baltimore, and a daughter of William
Hickman, an undertaker. ‘They have two chil-
dren, Liston P., and Amanda M.

Mr. Fusselbaugh is prominent in political cir-
cles and has been honored with several official
preferments, in which he has discharged his
duties with marked distinction and ability. In
1881 he was appointed by Governor Hamilton
register of the seventh, eighth and ninth precincts
of the fourth ward. On the 16th of June, 1883,
he was appointed school commissioner, elected by
the board, and ratified by the council. For three
terms he was chairman of the Female High School
committee, was chairman of the grammar school
committee, the sewing teachers’ committee, the
committee on accounts, on physical culture and
on discipline. During this time in 1893 Mr. Fus-
selbaugh was elected on the Democratic ticket to
the general assembly from the first legislative
district of Baltimore, and led the entire district
ticket. While a member of the house he served
on various important committees, including those
on printing and education. He took a very active
part in the work of the session and labored ear-
nestly for the advancement of the welfare of the
state, his loyalty being above question. He is
now president of the Hillen Democratic Club of
the fifth ward, and is a recognized leader in the
councils of his party.

Mr. Fusselbaugh is a valued member of many
civic societies, including Landmark Lodge No.
27, A. F. & A. M.; Concordia Chapter, R. A.
M.; Crusade Commandery No. 5, K. T.; Boumi
Temple of the Mystic Shrine; and Cerneau Con-
sistory, in which he has attained the thirty-second
degree of the Scottish Rite. He belongs to Bal-
timore Lodge No. 7, B. P. O. E.; is past excel-
lent ruler, and has filled a number of offices in
that order, by which he was presented with a fine
gold watch and chain, the watch being set with
sixteen diamonds. He represented the Elks in
their national convention in July, 1896. He is
also a member of the Junior American Mechanics,
the Heptasophs and Golden Eagle, and is a de-
mitted Knight of Pythias. He attends the Metho-

dist Episcopal Church, and is a distinguished
member of social, political and commercial circles,
commanding uniform confidence and the highest
regard of all.

EORGE SCHILLING. ‘The career of the
gentleman whose name heads this review
illustrates most forcibly the possibilities that

are open to a young man who possesses sterling
business qualities. It proves that neither wealth
nor social position, nor the assistance of influen-
tial friends at the outset of his career are neces-
sary to place him on the road to success. It also
proves that ambition, perseverance, steadfast
purpose and indefatigable industry, combined
with sound business principles will be rewarded,
and that true success follows individual effort
only. Mr, Schilling has gained recognition and
prestige as one of the influential representative
business men of Baltimore, and is not only one of
the leading undertakers and embalmers of the
city butis interested in many other enterprises.

Mr. Schilling was born in Sanborn, Kur-Hes-
sen, Germany, in October, 1835, a son of Peter
Schilling, also a native of Hessen, where the
mother’s death occurred when our subject was
quite small. ‘The family was an old and promi-
nent one of Germany, where they owned consid-
erable land, but lost most of their property dur-
ing the French war. With his three sons—
George, Michael, who died in Baltimore, and
Frank, a railroad employe living near Pittsburg,
Pa.,—the father took passage in 1845 upon the
Manchester, a sailing-vessel, which was fifty
days in reaching the harbor of Baltimore. Here
the father established a cabinet shop on North
Bond street where he continued to work at his
trade until his death, in 1853.

In the schools of the fatherland, George Schill-
ing began his education, but at the age of ten
years accompanied his father on his emigration to
the United States, and subsequently for two years
attended St. James’ school of Baltimore. He be-
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gan his business career asa clerk in a warehouse,
was later employed in a glass-staining establish-
ment until fourteen years of age, and spent the
following four years in the shop of his father, who
died at the end of that time. He then apprenticed
himself to Henneburder Brothers for three years,
but the firm failed seven months before he had
completed the term, and he then began working
for Samuel E. Wheeler, a cabinet-maker and un-
dertaker doing business at our subject’s present
location. ‘The business was first started by a Mr.
Brown, who sold out to Mr. Wheeler, and on the
death of the latter gentleman in 1865, Mr. Schill-
ing purchased the shop. He had continued to
work for Mr. Wheeler until 1863, when he went
to Washington, D. C., where he was employed
in the government undertaking establishment for
a time, but on the death of his former employer
he returned to Baltimore and for two years car-
ried on the business for his widow. In 1865,
however, he became the owner. He is a first-
class cabinet-maker and has invented a burial case
with patent full glass lid and double hinge, and a
full length ice casket, both patented in 1871. He
also keeps everything connected with his line of
business, including carriages and hearses. He
was one of the first embalmers in the city and
during the war his services were in great demand.
In 1865 he passed the examination of the board
at Washington; and in 1883 graduated from the
Rochester School of Embalming. Other business
has also claimed his attention, and heis now a
director in the Oldtown Bank, is a stockholder in
the Oldtown Fire Insurance Company, and the
Central Warehouse Company, and is a member of
the Oldtown Merchants & Manufacturers’ Asso-
ciation.

Mr. Schilling has been three times married, his
first union being with Miss Mary Henning, who
died in Baltimore, and only one of their three
children is now living, namely: Mrs. Lizzie Well-
ingfield, of Baltimore. By his second wife, who
bore the maiden name of Mary Kettering, he had
seven children, and four still survive: William
H., Frank A. and George W., who are all con-
nected with their father in business; and Mamie,
at home. For his third wife Mr. Schilling chose

Miss Elizabeth Kettering, and the only child born
to them is now deceased.

In 1865 Mr. Schilling was made a Mason in
LaFayette Lodge No. 11, F. & A. M., which
held its meetings in the old courthouse, Later
he assisted in organizing Baltimore City Lodge
No. 124; on its disbandment became one of the
organizers of Pheenix Lodge, and when it ceased
existence joined King David Lodge No. 68, of
which he is still an honored member. He also
belongs to St. John’s Chapter, R. A. M., and was
formerly connected with other secret societies,
but has withdrawn his membership. He belongs
to the Association of O. Keil, is president of the
Hackmen’s Union, and is a consistent and faith-
ful member of St. Matthew’s Lutheran Church.
Although a plain, unassuming man, he makes
many friends who appreciate his sterling worth
and many excellencies of character, and in the
business world he enjoys the confidence and es-
teem of all with whom he has dealings.

——l= D 2
R\

OHN S. ENSOR, the able state's attorney
of Baltimore County, and formerly deputy
United States district attorney, was born in
Towson, Md., May 28, 1868, the only son of John
T. and Caroline (Stokes) Ensor. The family of
which he is a member is among the oldest and
most influential in Maryland, and for generations
its members have taken a leading part in the af-
fairs of the city and county of Baltimore. His
father had four brothers, three of whom are liv-
ing: Andrew, a resident of Washington, D. C.;
James B., a farmer and school commissioner, at
Belfast; and George B., a farmer of Harford
County. The other brother, at the breaking out
of the Civil war, went south and became an officer
in the Confederate army, but lost his life in that
great struggle.

Hon. John T. Ensor, who is a native of this
county, was a member of the Maryland legisla-
ture during the war and shortly afterward held
the position of state’s attorney of this county.
During the administration of President Harrison
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he was United States district attorney. For
many years he has been at the head of Republican
politics in this county, and his influence has been
felt in the public affairs of the entire state. If
self-sacrificing, steady, efficient and brilliant
service for a political party entitles a man to any
reward, then surely he has demonstrated his de-
sert. Yet he has not sought office for himself, and
the positions to which he has been called were
given him, not upon personal solicitation, but in
recognition of his true and tried service for the
party. His wife was born in Philadelphia, the
daughter of a prominent retired merchant of that
city. ‘They were the parents of three children:
John S.; Caroline L., wife of Joseph Clendenin,
Jr., secretary and treasurer of the Baltimore
Smelting and Refining Company; and Florence
A., who is at home.

Educated in the public schools of Towson, Mr,
Eunsor made such rapid progress that at the age
of sixteen he was prepared for college. In 1884
he entered Lafayette College, Easton, Pa., from
which he graduated in 1888, carrying off the hon-
ors of class orator. He then entered the law
school connected with the University of Mary-
land, from which he graduated in 18go, and at
once became a member of the bar of Towson.
In 1891 he was appointed deputy United States
district attorney under his father, and held this
responsible position until the retirement of the
Harrison administration. Resuming the practice
of his profession in Towson, in August, 1895, he
received the nomination of the Republican party
of Baltimore County for state's attorney, and in
November of the same year was duly elected.
He has the distinction of being the first Republic-
an elected to the office since the war, his per-
sonal popularity, coupled with his father’s influ-
ence, having placed the county in the Republican
list. When he took up the responsibilities of this
important office in the largest and wealthiest
county in the state, he found an immense amount
of complicated cases confronting him, but he en-
tered upon his duties without fear or favor.
They are difficult and respounsible, but he has the
courage of his convictions, and at once upon as-
suming the position made a brave stand for law
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and order, determined that the laws on the statute
books should be enforced and that every offender
should be vigilantly prosecuted; yet he believes
that justice should be tempered with mercy. It
is his ambition that, during  his administration
of the office, Baltimore shall be the leading coun-
ty in the state for peace and securifg, as it isin
wealth and population. His ability as a prose-
cutor is evidenced by the fact that out of fifty-four
criminal cases in the present term of court (fall of
1896) he has been successful in all but two. In
religious matters he is a member of the Presby-
terian Church, of Mt. Washington. Fraternally
he is a member of the Delta Tau Delta fraternity,
the Junior Order of American Mechanics, and the
Independent Order of Odd Fellows. He resides
with his parents in the aristocratic suburban vil-
lage of Mt. Washington.

-~
e v \VOJ_T_:%\.-

AMUEL REGESTER, one of the leading
lights of the Baltimore bar, is equally well
known and popular in the club and social life

of our beautiful city. He is a man well qualified
by nature and education for his chosen field of
labor, and yet higher honors than he has thus far
enjoyed in his profession are undoubtedly await-
ing him.

The second son in a family comprising five
children, our subject was born on the old home-
stead, Woodlawn, so long owned by members of
his family, in the twelfth district of Baltimore
County, in 1854. His brothers, Nicholas and
Sebastian Brown (the latter named for a prominent
lawyer) are still residing upon and managing the
old farm. The other brother, John, is engaged
in the dairy business in this city. The only
daughter of this household, Ella, is the wife of
Dr. Louis A. Weigel, a progressive medical man
of Rochester, N. Y. 'The parents of these children
were John and Amanda (Hardy) Regester, the
latter a child of Nicholas Hardy, who, prior to
the Civil war, owned a plantation and slaves in
Howard County, Md. John Regester, Sr. was a
son of Samuel and Elizabeth Regester. The

-~
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father came from Talbot County, Md., in 1805,
and having purchased the old homestead in the
twelfth district, above referred to, there passed the
remainder of his life. He was one of the organizers
and influential megmbers of the Oldtown Quaker
Meeting-house, and in later years, his son, our
subject’s father, was also a pillar in the same con-

gregation, and for years a trustee. John Regester

was born on the old farm in 1823 and continued
to dwell there during his entire lifetime, his chief
attention being given to gardening, in which line
he was very successful. He was called to his
final rest in 1896, at the age of seventy-three
years. His faithful wife, now in her seventy-first
year, is yet making her home on the farm and
bids fair to enjoy many years more of quiet, happy
usefulness.

Samuel Regester, whose name heads this
sketch, received such educational advantages as
usually fall to the lot of a farmer’s boy in his
early childhood, but afterward it was his privilege
to attend the excellent schools of this city.
Having made up his mind to enter the legal
profession, he next turned his energies to the
study of law, this occurring in 1876. His in-
struction in this direction was supervised by
Sebastian Brown and Robert H. Smith, who
stand high in the profession, and with that firm
he remained some time. While the Reform Act
was being agitated in Baltimore the young man
was much interested in the outcome, and materi-
ally assisted in the result. In 1879, he became
clerk to the commissioners of Baltimore County,
and, the same year, in July, having completed
his law course with T'. J. Hunter, he was duly
admitted to the bar.

Mr. Regester opened his first business office
in Canton about 1880, but was located there
scarcely a year, as he then entered the employ of
the government and was sent to the southwest.
Thus passed the succeeding three years, during
which time his headquarters were in E] Paso, Tex.
In 1884 he returned to Baltimore and has since
successfully carried on a large and increasing
practice. While in the west, he made the ac-
quaintance of the charming lady who now so
gracefully presides over his pleasant home. It

was in 1884 that his marriage to Miss Anna J.
Pickering, daughter of Capt. Charles F. Picker-
ing, was celebrated in the ‘‘Sunset State.”” Her
father who won his title in the United States navy,
and her mother are now deceased.

After attaining his majority Mr. Regester cast
in his lot with the Republican party, but when
the tariff issue became such an importanf factor
in our national affairs, he decided to give his
allegiance to the opposition. His father was a
Republican up to the time of his death. In El
Paso he helped to organize and was a charter
member of one of the Odd Fellow’s lodges, and
at present he belongs to Gordon Lodge No. 114.
An ardent sportsman, he is president of the
Poplar Grove Fishing Club, and secretary and
treasurer of the Prospect Gun Club. He is also
president of the Riverside Brick Company.

ICHAEL PADIAN, a native of County

Roscommon, Ireland, is now successfully

engaged in general farming in the eighth
district. ‘The natural advantages of this section
have attracted a superior class of settlers, thrifty,
industrious, progressive and law-abiding, whose
influence has given permanent direction to the
development of the locality. Among these may
be numbered the Padian family, which is one of
prominence in agricultural circles.

Richard Padian, the father of our subject, in
1860 bade adieu to his native land and sailed for
America with the hope of bettering his finan-
cial condition. Settling in the eighth district,
Baltimore County, Md., he purchased the John
Price farm of sevén hundred and fifty acres,
which he operated for ten years. In 1877 he
bought one hundred and sixty-two acres at Tay-
lor’s Hall, which he continued to improve and
cultivate until called to his final rest in 1888,
Politically he was an ardent Democrat, but never
cared for official distinction. In religious belief
he was a Catholic and contributed liberally to the
erection of St. Joseph’s Church in Texas. His
kind and benevolent disposition gained for him
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many warm friends and acquaintances, and he
had the respect and esteem of the entire com-
munity. Hiswife, who bore the maiden name of
Mary Carliss, was also a native of County Ros-
common, Ireland, and died in 1885. ‘Their chil-
dren were as follows: William, the eldest son,
who was engaged in the real-estate and whole-
sale liquor business in New York and who died
wealthy, April 26, 1894; James and Peter, of New
York; Michael; Maria, at home; and Annie and
Kate, both of New York.

Until twelve years of age Michael Padian at-
tended the schools near his childhood’s home, and
then laid aside his text-books in order to assist
. his father in the operation of the old homestead,
of which he took entire charge upon the latter’s
death. He now owns the place, whose well-tilled
fields and neat and thrifty appearance testify to
his skill and ability as an agriculturist. Like the
other members of the family he is a ecommunicant
of the Catholic Church. He is also a member of
the Catholic Benevolent Legion, of which heis
now serving as vice-president, His political sup-
port is given the men and measures of the Demo-
cratic party, and as a true and loyal citizen of his
adopted country he takes a deep and commenda-
ble interest in public affairs.

IS EMINENCE, JAMES CARDINAIL
GIBBONS. The city of Baltimore boasts
of having been the home of many men noted

in the annals of our country. Among them are
men who have won fame at the bar, such as
William Pinkney, the boast of Maryland, and
Daniel Dulany, the impassioned orator; some who
have gained eminence as poets—Edger Allan Poe
and Francis Scott Key; and others, like Johns
Hopkins, who have achieved success in the great
world of commercial activity. In none of her
citizens, however, illustrious though they are in
the realms of literature and the fields of thought
and action, does Baltimore take greater pride
than in Cardinal Gibbons, whose brilliant career

3

as churchman and cardinal has made his name a
household: word throughout the entire United
States.

The life which this narrative sketches began in
Baltimore, July 23, 1834. ‘The casual observer
might have found little in the occurrences that
marked the daily life of the child to indicate his
future greatness, but undoubtedly the student of
human nature would have noted with interest the
keen mind, logical reasoning and deep acumen,
and would have predicted for the boy a life of
honor and of usefulness. Born of Catholic parent-
age, he was baptized in the Cathedral here and
was early taught to love the institutions of his
church. When quite young, he was taken to
Ireland, where he gave himself entirely to the
storing of his mind with useful information, and
in that way he gained a broad general knowledge.
Upon returning to the United States, he entered
St. Charles College, and remained a student in
that institution until his graduation, in 1857.
Afterward he took a course in philosophy and
theology in St. Mary’s Seminary, on the con-
clusion of which he was ordained to the priest-
hood of the Catholic Church, June 30, 1861. His
first position was that of assistant to the late Rev.
James Dolan, of St. Patrick’s Church, where he
discharged his duties in such an efficient and
satisfactory manner as to bring him the esteem
of the entire congregation.

From St. Patrick’s Father Gibbons was trans-
ferred to St. Bridget’s, at Canton, Baltimore,
where he remained in charge for several years,
While serving in that capacity the late Arch-
bishop Spalding bestowed upon him a marked
recognition of merit by appointing him as his
privaté secretary. August 16, 1868, he was con-
secrated bishop in the Cathedral of Baltimore and
was made vicar of North Carolina. In his new
and responsible position, he exhibited remarkable
administrative abilities, ‘Transferred from there
to the See of Richmond, he was installed in the
latter place October 20, 1872, and during his con-
nection with the See he did much to advance the
interests of the work, securing the erection of
several churches and schoolhouses.

The venerable head of the Archdiocese of Balti-
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more, Archbishop Bayley, was rapidly failing in
health about this time, and being unable to person-
ally attend to the many duties of the office, he asked
for the appointment of a coadjutor, giving as his
preference the Bishop of Richmond. In conse-
quence of this request, Bishop Gibbons was ap-
pointed coadjutor, with the right of succession,
May 20, 1877. After his promotion to the See of
Baltimore, he displayed the same zeal and tireless
energy that had characterized him in duties more
humble. Upon the workers under him his in-
fluence was apparent, and the entire work took a
new impetus as the result of his enthusiasm and
Christian vigor. As in his former See, so in
Baltimore he was instrumental in the erection of
new parochial schools and houses of worship. He
became Archbishop October 3, 1877. ‘The Arch-
bishop, as an apostolic delegate, presided over the
third plenary or national council of Baltimore,
which was opened November g, 1884. This council
was attended by all the Archbishops and Bishops
of the United States, numbering upwards of eighty
prelates. A still higher honor was conferred
upon him, June 7, 1886, when he was appointed
Cardinal, the second in the United States. Siuce
then his executive ability and sound judgment
have ever been at the service of the immense body
of people under his spiritual care,

One of the most noticeable traits in the charac-
ter of Cardinal Gibbons is his patriotism, his
loyal devotion to and love for his native land. T'o
indicate the deep feeling he cherishes for our
country, we quote the following, written at the
time he took possession of his titular church in
Rome, March 25, 1887. ‘“The assignment to me
by the Holy Father of this beautiful basilica as
my titular church fills me with feelings of joy and
gratitude which no words of mine are adequate
to express. For, as here in Rome, I stand within
the first dome raised in honor of the ever blessed
Virgin Mary, so, in my far-off home, my own

Cathedral church (the oldest in America) is also .

dedicated to the Mother of God. That never
ceasing solicitude which the Sovereign Pontiffs
have exhibited in erecting those material temples,
which are the glory of this city, they have also
manifested on a larger scale in rearing spiritual

walls to Zion throughout Christendom in every
age. Our Catholic community in those days
numbered only a few thousand souls and they
were scattered chiefly through the states of New
York, Pennsylvania and Maryland. They were
served by the merest handful of priests. Butnow,
thanks to the fructifying grace of God, the grain
of mustard seed then planted has grown to a large
tree, spreading its branches through the length
and breadth of our fair land. While only one
bishop was given in the beginning of this cent-
ury, there are now seventy-five exercising spirit-
ual jurisdiction. For this great progress we are
indebted, under God and the fostering care of the
Holy See, to the civil liberty we enjoy in our en-
lightened republic.

“For myself, as a citizen of the United States
and without closing my eyes to our shortcomings
as a nation, I say with a deep seuse of pride and
gratitude, that I belong to a country where the
civil government holds over us the zegis of its pro-
tection without interfering with us in the legiti-
mate exercise of our sublime mission as ministers
of the Gospel of Christ. Qur country has liberty
without license, and authority without despotism.
She rears no wall to exclude the stranger from
coming among us. She has few frowning forti-
fications to repel the invader, for she is at peace
with all the world. She rests secure in the con-
sciousness of her strength and her good will to-
ward all. Her harbors are open to welcome the
honest immigrant who comes to advance his tem-
poral interests and find a peaceful home. But while
we are acknowledged to have a free government,
perhaps we do not receive the credit that belongs
to us for having also a strong government. Yes,
our nation is strong, and her strength lies, under
the overruling guidance of Providence, in the
majesty and supremacy of the law, in the loyalty
of her citizens, and in the affection of her people
for her free institutions.”’

Such words as these show the love which
Cardinal Gibbons feels for his country. His ex-
ample as a patriotic citizen, is well worthy of
emulation by those who decry our mnational
strength and seek to undermine its power. His
life has been given to the church, and his hap-
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piness is indissolubly connected with its welfare.
While he occupies a position of great power and
influence, he nevertheless sets the example of
humility and gentleness of character. It is to
these traits, combined with his ability, that he
owes his elevation to the highest position attain-
able in the church in the United States.

———t —-0)1{@@@@?{.-— e

HARLES BENJAMIN ZIEGLER. M. D,

a skillful and successful physician and sur-

geon of Baltimore, was born in this city
July 8, 1855, and is of the seventh generation of
a distinguished and prominent family of York
County, Pa., where it was founded about 1730 or
1740. Down to the father of our subject the
family still continued to reside there and were
actively identified with the development and
progress of the locality. In early life the grand-
father, Benjamin Ziegler, successfully engaged in
teaching school in York County and later served
as clerk of the courts, holding that position at
the time of his death, when forty-six years ot
He married Miss Anna M. Pentz, also a
native of York County, and the daughter of a
leading physician of the county. He also had a
son, who followed the same profession.

John M. Ziegler, the doctor’s father, was born,
reared and educated in York, Pa., where, during
his early life he learned type-setting, and after-
ward traveled quite extensively over Ohio, Penn-
sylvania, Maryland and Virginia, finally locating
in Baltimore. For forty-two years he has been in
the employ of the Swuz, first as compositor and
now as foreman, and bears an enviable reputation
as an upright, honorable man. He married Miss
Susan A. Clemmency, a native of T'albot County,
Md., of which her family were honored pioneers.
Her father, Charles Clemmency, was also born
there, but spent his last days in Baltimore. His
wife, who bore the maiden name of Mary A. Ber-
ridge, was a daughter of John Berridge, who,
with a brother, came from England and located
on the KEastern Shore, where they engaged in
merchandising, and where John Berridge also

taught school. Henry Clemmency, the great-
grandfather of the doctor, was a French soldier,
who came to America with Lafayette, and after
valiantly aiding the colonies in their struggle for
independence, located on the eastern shore.

The doctor, who is the oldest of a family of six
children, four still living, was reared in Balti-
more and completed his literary education by a
course in the Deisterwig Institute, under Pro-
fessor Lange. After leaving school he clerked in
a drug store for one year and while there began
the study of medicine. In the spring of 1874 he
entered Washington University, now the College
of Physicians and Surgeons, attending lectures
two summers and two winters, and graduated in
1876 with the degree of M. D. For a year he
then served as resident physician at the city hos-
pital, but the following three years were devoted
to general practice near St. Michael’s, Md. At
the end of that period, however, he removed to
Baltimore and has since had an office on Broad-
way. He was vaccine physician for three years,
and station-house surgeon for the Northeast Dis-
trict for the same length of time, but his energies
have mostly been devoted to his extensive private
practice.

Dr. Ziegler has been twice married, first in St.
Michael’s, to Miss Emily I. Teunant, who was
born there and was a daughter of Edward Ten-
nant, a farmer by occupation. She died after a
short married life of four months. For his second
wife he chose Miss Jane Baker, a native of Phila-
delphia. Their marriage was solemnized in Bal-
timore and has been blessed by the birth of three
children, Edith, John E. and Margaret. Mrs.
Ziegler's father, Edward Baker, was a native of
England, and on coming to America first located
in Philadelphia and later in Baltimore, where he
became a partner in the Maryland Meter Works.
He possessed remarkable ability as a mechanic
and was the inventor of a number of different ap-
pliances.

Constant and close application to the details of
his profession, have enabled Dr. Ziegler to reach
the position, conceded to him by all, that he oc-
cupies, of being a leader in medical circles. He
is a worthy member of the Medical and Chirur-
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gical Faculty of Maryland, the Clinical Society
of Baltimore, and the Medical and Surgical Soci-
ety of Baltimore, of which he was secretary one
vear. He holds membership in the Church of
Our Saviour, of the Protestant Episcopal denom-
ination, and politically is identified with the
Democratic party. He is a pleasant, affable gen-
tleman, and a stranger in his presence soon feels
perfectly at ease. Prominence in the medical
profession comes through merit alone, and the
high position which Dr. Ziegler has attained at-
tests his superiority.

A. MORELAND, an energetic and reliable

business man of Baltimore, whose success

is due entirely to his own efforts, is now
conducting a livery and boarding stable at No.
1613 Ashland avenue. A native of the city, he
was born at Fells Point, February 13, 1857, and
is a son of Joseph Foster and Sarah Lund (John-
son) Moreland, natives of Philadelphia, Pa., and
Snow Hill, Md., respectively. The paternal
grandfather, Jabez Moreland, was born in Eng-
land, and on crossing the Atlantic located in the
Quaker City, where he served on the police force
for many years. His last days were spent in re-
tirement at Baltimore, where he died at the ad-
vanced age of ninety. On the maternal side our
subject is descended from Lord Sylva, of England,
who emigrated to America and became an early
settler of Snow Hill, Md., where he at one time
owned the property now occupied by the brick
hotel at that place. His death occurred in Mary-
land. After the death of her husband the grand-
mother came to Fells Point, where she died.

The father of our subject learned the shoe-
maker’s trade, which he followed for some time
at Fells Point, but his health failing, he was
obliged to seek outdoor employment and secured
the appointment of police officer in 1867. Pre-
vious to this time he tried to enlist in the Union
army but was rejected on account of physical dis-
ability. In 1885 he retired from the police force
and purchased a two-thirds interest in a fruit

preserving establishment; was later interested in
oyster packing, but is now. living retired in Wil-
mington, Del.| at the age of seventy-three years.
Fraternally he is a Master Mason and in his
church relations is a Baptist. In his family were
twelve children, eleven sons and one daughter
of whom nine are still living, our subject being
the fifth in order of birth. One son, William P.,
was in the United States navy during the Civil
war, and is now a resident of Wilmington, Del.

Reared in Baltimore, Mr. Moreland, whose
name introduces this sketch, acquired his educa-
tion in school No. 6, from which he graduated at
the age of sixteen, and then began working in a
canning factory where he remained for three years.
Subsequently he was employed for two years in
Abbott’s rail mill, and later learned horse shoe-
ing with James Clifford, and after mastering the
business worked as journeyman until 1881, when,
in partnership with Mr. Farmer, he established a
shop of his own on Monument street. At the end
of eight years the connection was dissolved and
Mr. Moreland opened his present shop on Ash-
land avenue near Bond street, where he still car-
ries on business as a professional horseshoer,
Two years after locating here he purchased the .
livery business of W. A. Royston, and has since
successfully conducted the two enterprises. His
stable is complete in all its appointments, has
thirty-two stalls, and is stocked with a fine line
of vehicles and a good grade of horses.

Mr. Moreland was married in Baltimore, the
lady of his choice being Miss Anna C. Batty, who
was born in that city, and is a daughter of Joseph
Batty, a native of St. Mary County, Md., an
engineer by profession, but now serving as fore-
man for Mr. Davison, the chemist. Two children
grace this union, Alonzo Gordon and Geraldine
Cecelia. The family attend the Methodist Epis-
copal Church, and socially Mr. Moreland is con-
nected with Concordia Lodge No. 13, F. & A. M.
Being an ardent Republican in politics, he was
the founder of the Young Men’s Seventh Ward
Republican Association, of which he was elected
the first president, and is still serving in that posi-
tion. A courteous and accomodating gentleman,
he wins from the public a liberal patronage, is
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fair and honorable in all business transactions,
and the success that he has achieved in life is cer-
tainly well deserved as he began life for himself
with no capital or influential friends to aid him.

e
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EV. DR. MIECZYSLAW BARABASZ,
Pu.D,, rector of the Holy Rosary Catholic
Church, Baltimore, was born in Poland, on

the Russian government boundary, July 9, 1863.
He was one of a family of four children, of whom
one sister, Julia, is the wife of Anthony Skretny,
of Maryland; and the others, Mary and Ste-
phanie, reside with their parents, John and Cecilia
Barabasz, in Cracow, Austrian Poland. The fam-
ily have suffered persecution at the hands of the
Russian government on account of their religious
belief, and for this reason they reside in Cracow,
preferring Austrian Poland to Siberia, where
many of the Catholic Poles have been sent. The
city of Cracow, where they live, is situated on
the left bank of the Vistula, and is the capital of
Austrian Poland. A very ancient town, it boasts
among its relics a castle founded 700 A. D., a
university started in 1364, and a valuable library
containing one hundred and forty thousand vol-
umes.

The early education of our subject was obtained
in the seminary at Lublin. Afterward he went to
Rome, where he took a special course of study in
philosophy at the Gregorian University, from
which he graduated in 1886. During the same year
he was ordained to the priesthood by Cardinal Pa-
rocchi, the vicar general of the Pope of Rome,.
On the completion of his studies in Rome he went
to Louvain, Belgium, where he continued his
philosophical researches, devoting especial atten-
tion to the results of scientific investigations, so far
as they were connected with philosophy. Two
years were spent in study in Belgium. Upon the
advice of Professor Mercieur he then went to
Paris to study physiology and biology in order to
extend the object of philosophic work.

In 1890 Father Barabasz came to the United
States and for a time resided in Detroit, Mich.,

where he was professor of philosophy and the-
ology and vice-rector of the Polish seminary.
After devoting two years to this work, in 1892 he
came to Baltimore, where he received the ap-
pointment of rector of Holy Rosary Church from
His Eminence, Cardinal Gibbons. Connected
with his church are the male and female schools,
attended by five hundred pupils, under charge of
the Sisters of St. Francis, with seven teachers as
instructors. ‘The school building is of brick and
is well equipped for substantial school work, The
rector has an assistant, Rev. Joseph J. Dulski,
also from Poland.

A man of brilliant education, Father Barabasz
is admirably qualified for ministerial work. His
usefulness is also increased by his knowledge of
a number of modern languages, among them the
Polish, French, Italian, English, Russian and
other Slavonic languages. During his residence
in Detroit, he was editor and publisher of the
Polish illustrated weekly called Niedziela, mean-
ing Sunday. Of this paper he was the originator
and it is still published in Detroit. He hasmade
the free translation of several French works, in-
cluding the drama, ‘‘Le Pater,”” of Francois Cop-
pee, which as translated was represented with
sticcess in Cracow, as well as in other places. He
is a man whose appearance indicates scholarly at-
tainments. Though not possessing a strong
physique, he seems the embodiment of that en-
ergy and determination which are the precursors
of success. As a citizen of the United States, he
appreciates the advantages of a free government
in the hands of an enlightened people,

)
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EV. JOSEPH SKRETNY was born on the
23d of October, 1865, in the province of
Posen (Poland). He was the son of A-

dalbert and Amy Skretny. Up to his thirteenth
year he was brought up under the watchful eyes
of his good and pious parents at home, during
which time his special characteristics were obe-
dience and piety. Afterwards he was sent to
college at Pile, Poland, where he remained for
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six years, but when the Polish language was
forbidden, by the German government, to be
studied in that college, he went to college at
Wagrowce, where after another two years he
graduated. Having finished his classical course
in his native land, and being ever desirous to
become a priest, he left his native country and
went to Louvain, Belgium, to pursue his philo-
sophical and theological studies, where he was
ordained to the holy priesthood on the 29th of
June, 18go. After receiving orders he came to
the United States, to Baltimore, where he was
appointed as assistant to Father Rodowicz, who
was pastor of St. Stanislaus. After the death of
Father Rodowicz, which occurred in 1896, Father
Skretny was appointed pastor of that congregation
by Cardinal Gibbons, where he labored untiringly
to the end of hislife. He was known everywhere
as a very popular priest and great worker in his
field of labor, the holy priesthood. He died on the
4th day of September, 1897.

—~— (B2
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ILLIAM BISSON is one whose business
career, honorable and straightforward, has
brought to him a fair degree of prosperity

and gained him the respect of those with whom he
has been brought in contact. His entire life has
been passed in Baltimore, his native city. He
was born on Fells Point, January 17, 1851, and
is a son of William and Martha (Travers) Bis-
son. ‘The paternal grandparents came from Eng-
land to America, spending their last days in St.
Louis, where they died about a month apart.
Captain Bisson, the father of our subject was
born on the Isle of Jersey, in the English Chan-
nel, and when seventeen years of age came to
America as supercargo on a vessel, expecting
here to meet his parents, but he never saw them
again. Enlisting in the United States navy, he
served his full time and was honorably dis-
charged. At the time of the gold excitement he
went from Baltimore on a sailing-vessel around
Cape Horn. He followed the sea for many years,
visiting various ports of the world, and onleaving

the water engaged in merchandising in East Bal-
timore. TLater he was employed as watchman in
the old Merchants’ Bank building, being thus en-
gaged until his eye-sight failed. He died in
June, 1896, at the age of seventy-four years.
His widow, who was born in Urbana, Iancaster
County, Va., is still living, and four of their six
children yet survive.

William Bisson, whose name begins this sketch,
was the second in order of birth, and was reared
on Fells Point, Baltimore. After his graduation
from the grammar schools he went to sea with
Amos K. Boyd, who was chief engineer on the
James H. Green. He was employed as oiler for
over a year, and when seventeen years of age be-
came assistant engineer on the Delaware, sailing
in that capacity for three years. Through the
two succeeding years he was employed as assist-
ant engineer of the construction of the new post-
office in New York City, after which he returned
to Baltimore and engaged with the Baltimore &
Ohio Railroad Company on the tugboat Transfer.
His next service was as chief engineer, in which
capacity he was employed by the Baltimore &
Ohio Company for fourteen years, when he re-
signed and entered the Baltimore & Ohio shops as
steam-fitter, continuing in that service for a year.
He next engaged with the Joseph Edwards
Dredging Company, and was promoted from the
position of first assistant to that of chief engineer,
resigning two years later. As first assistant en-
gineer he ran on the Mallory line between New
York and Galveston for a year, after which he
returned to Baltimore, and was engaged as chief
engineer on the Baltimore tunnel for twenty-two
months, when he returned to the Baltimore &
Ohio Railroad shops for a service of six months,
which was followed by fifteen months’ work in
charge of the steam-fitting in Clarmont Abbatoir.
A six months’ service as chief engineer for the
Pheenix Club was followed by his appointment in
September, 1894, to the position of chief engineer
of the Merchants’ National Bank building, and he
has since remained in charge, performing every
duty in a most capable manner. The building is
fitted up with the Sprague electric elevator sys-
tem, the third plant of the kind ever used. In
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addition to this Mr. Bisson has charge of the
heating boilers, all machinery, electrical ap-
pliances and plumbing, and his capability and
fidelity are above question. In 1897 Mr. Bisson
completed a course in mechanical drawing in the
Polytechnic Institute and then began a three
years’ course in electrical engineering. He holds
first-class marine and ocean steamer license from
the United States government, and first-class
license for stationary engines of any horse-power.

Mr. Bisson was married in Baltimore to Miss
Sarah Catharine Durham, a native of Somerset
County, as was her father, William Durham.
They have one child, Cecelia V. Mr. Bissonisa
member of the Marine Engineers’ Beneficial As-
sociation No. 5, of Baltimore; La Fayette Lodge
No. 111, F. & A. M.; the Northwestern Masonic
Association; the Shield of Honor and the Home
Circle; and in his political affiliationsis a stalwart
Republican.

T e AN e Y
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HENRY CHABQT, M. D., of Baltimore, is

widely and favorably known as a medical

practitioner, and has his office in a very cen-
tral location, at No. 1111 East Preston street.
His public spirit and the active interest which he
takes in all things relating to the general welfare,
make him justly entitled to a place among our
best citizens. In his political affiliations he is a
Democrat, and six years ago he was appointed
vaccine surgeon of the seventh ward and is still
acting in that capacity. He is a member of the
Improved Order of Heptasophs, and is medical
examiner for the same. He is also connected
with the Shield of Honor and the National Union,
and is medical examiner for both societies.

The doctor’s father, Lawrence J. Chabot, is a
retired physician, and is well remembered by a
large number of the older citizens of Baltimore as
a man of great skill and fine judgment in his pro-
fession, and as an honorable and thoroughly up-
right man in every particular. He and his good
wife are residing quietly at home, and though
they are now bending under the weight of years,

they receive the measure of esteem and praise
that is their due, for their lives have been useful
and of beneficent influence upon all those who
have come across their pathway. He graduated
from the University of Maryland in 1850, and
continued in active practice in this city for forty-
two years, only resigning his practice in 1892.
He is a native of Baltimore, having been born
here September 4, 1814, and is therefore in his
eighty-fourth year. His devoted wife was for-
merly Mary A. Cole, also of Baltimore, and is now
about fifty-seven years of age. They are both
members of the Catholic Church. Their family
comprised three children, of whom William H.
was a civil engineer., He was in the employ of a
railroad company in Brazil, S. A., in 18g5. Word
reached his parents a month after his death that
he had been accidentally shot with a pistol, on
the thirtieth of April, his age being then but
twenty-eight. He was a bright and promising
yvoung man and his premature and unfortunate
taking-off was a great blow to his many friends.
Eleanora, the only sister, died in infancy.

Dr. G. H. Chabot was born in Baltimore, April
19, 1861, and began his education in the public
schools of this city. He subsequently took a
course in the Maryland Agricultural College, then
a course in Haton & Burnett’s Business College,
and afterward began the study of medicine under
Dr.William B. Canfield, of Baltimore. He gradu-
ated from the University of Maryland in 1883,
standing well in a class of ninety-three students.
The next two years he was clinical assistant in
the dispensary, and house physician, and thus
obtained practical training which he could have
received in no other manner in the same space of
time. Soon afterward he opened an office and
entered upon the practice of his profession on his
own account. In order to keep fully abreast of
the march of progress, he belongs to several asso-
ciations of prominent members of the medical
professiou, among these being the Baltimore
Medical Society, the Medical and Chirurgical
Faculty of Maryland and the Clinical Society of
Baltimore.

April 26, 1892, Dr, Chabot married Celia R.,
daughter of Thomas and Julia E. Xelly, of Balti-
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more. Their union was blessed by the birth of
two children, a son and daughter. G. H., Jr.,; a
very bright and lovable child, was summoned by
the angel of death to the better land, August 17,
1897, and left many sad hearts to mourn his loss.
Julia Kelly is the name of the pretty little daughter
of the house. The doctor and his amiable wife
are both members of the Catholic Church.
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EV. F. H. O’Donoughue, C. M., rector of
Immaculate Conception Church, Baltimore,
was born in Rochester, N. Y., and is a son

of James and Mary Ann (McAndrew) O’Donou-
ghue, natives, respectively, of Ireland and New
York. His father, who was a merchant by occu-
pation, carried on business in Rochester from
1846 until 1876, when he retired. In politics he
affiliated with the Democratic party, but was not
a politician. A lifelong member of the Catholic
Church, for sixty-two successive years he had a
pew in St. Patrick’s, at Rochester, and during
twenty-five years of that time he was president of
St. Vincent de Paul’s Conference, a society organ-
ized for the benefit of the poor of the parish. He
died March 16, 1895, at the age of seventy-nine.
His wife had passed away ten years prior, Sep-
tember 30, 1885, aged sixty-five. She, too, was
a member of the Catholic Church and active in
charitable work for asylums and hospitals.

The education of our subject was carried on in
Niagara University, N. Y., and completed in
Philadelphia, after which he was ordained by
Archbishop Wood, to the holy priesthood, the
ceremony of ordination taking place September
10, 1876. His first mission was that of professor
in St. Vincent's College at Cape Girardeau, Mo.,
and after one year there he went to LaSalle, Iil.,
one hundred miles from Chicago, where he acted
as assistant to Father Anthony, rector of St.
Patrick’s Church. In all the responsibilities of
the work there he bore his part, proving himself
to be energetic, efficient and faithful. Thence he
was transferred to New Orleans, where he assisted

Father Verrina in St. Stephen’s Church, for four
years. Returning to New York, he was given a
position in the Niagara University, which he had
attended some years before, and for two years he
served as prefect of the collegians. In the mean-
time he became interested in home missionary
work, and on leaving the university he traveled
over the United States, engaging in this work
for nine years, and visiting the majority of the
states in the Union. He then went back again
to Niagara University as treasurer of the institu-
tion, but after one year in that capacity he re-
signed and came to Baltimore, where he was
assistant to Father P. V. Kavanagh, of the Im-
maculate Conception Church, until the latter
resigned to become pastor of St. Joseph’s Church
at Emmitsburg, Md. Since January 18, 1897,
Father O’Donoughue has been rector in charge.

The history of the Immaculate Comnception
parish extends back to the year 1852, when Most
Rev. Francis Patrick Kenrick, Archbishop of
Baltimore, invited the priests of the congregation
of the mission to take charge of the parish. The
first church (now utilized as a parochial school
for girls) was erected on the corner of Mosher
street and Druid Hill avenue in 1852, and was
abandoned on the 8th of December, 1858. 'The
present church was begun in 1854, and opened
for service December 8, 1858. ‘The erection of
the Brothers’ school was commenced in 1868, and
it was opened in October, 1869, under the man-
agement of the Christian Brothers. Its first di-
rector was Brother Justinian. ‘The second di-
rector was Brother Candidian, who took charge
in 1881. The present director is Brother Steph-
en, under whom instruction is given to two hun-
dred pupils. 'The girls’ school was organized
October 135, 1863, in two small rooms fitted up for
the occasion in a part of the old church, and it
was given to the charge of the Sisters of Charity,
with Sister Lucretia Fay at the head. The pres-
ent sister-servant, Christine, is assisted by six
sisters, under whose supervision are two hundred
girls.

In earlier days the parish was much larger
than now, the following parishes having been
formed from it: St. Edward’s, St. Pius, St. Greg-
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ory, Corpus Christi and St. Thomas. The present
parish extends to Pennsylvania avenue, Hoffman
street, Lafayette street, Fremont avenue, Presst-
man street, Linden avenue and Biddle street.
The first pastor was Rev. Mark Anthony, who
died in 1881. He was succeeded by Father Guis-
timania, member of an illustrious Italian family
from whom he inherited the title of Count. He
held the pastorate from 1854 to October 20, 1886,
when he passed from earth. After him came
Fathers P. McHale, S.V. Haire, J. T\ Landry and
P. V. Kavanagh, the last-named being succeeded
in 1897 by Father O’Donoughue, the present
rector.

— _..>¢{@

HE BALTIMORE SUN. During the sixty
years of the life of this journal, it has wielded
a powerful influence upon the people of Bal-
timore, promoting the progress of local enter-
prises, fostering laudable charities, and by its
strong and well-considered editorials guiding the
opinions of the public. Inall this time no worthy
project has been introduced that has failed to se-
cure the co-operation of 7%e Sun. No movement
has been attempted to enlarge the commercial in-
terests of the city that has failed to obtain its
endorsement. In fact, its influence upon the
growth of Baltimore and the development of its
material resources and commercial activities has
been incalculable.

In his excellent work, entitled ‘“T'he Monu-
mental City,”” published in 1873, George W.
Howard says of 7%e Sun: ‘‘As a public journal,
giving the news in a concise but readable form,
7The Sun has no superior in the country. Sagac-
ity and enterprise are exhibited in its manage-
ment, and its editorial columns are marked by
ability and sound sense.”” What was written of
the paper in 1873 may be said of it, with even a
greater degree of truth, in the year 1897, and as
a representative of the people and industries of
Baltimore it stands without a peer,

The history of the paper is interesting. Feb-

ruary 29, 1836, W. M. Swain, Arunah S. Abell
and A. H. Simmons, then of New York, entered
into partnership to publish a daily penny paper
in Philadelphia. ‘This they did, establishing 7%e
Ledger. Such was the inception of the memor-
able association of Swain, Abell & Simmons,
which lasted through a period covering a quarter
of a century, and resulted in the establishment of
two of the most successful journals in the United
States, 7he Public Ledger, in Philadelphia, and
The Sun, in Baltimore.

In April, 1837, Mr. Abell came to Baltimore
for the first time. At that date the city had no
penny paper. The times were very inauspicious.
The country was laboring under a financial de-
pression greater than any through which it had
ever before been called to pass. The year 1837
is still remembered on account of its panic and
business failures, However, he believed a paper
could be made to succeed here, in spite of the
hard times. His report to the other members of
the firm was encouraging. His partners con-
sented to the enterprise, provided he would as-
sume personal control of the paper. This he con-
sented to do, and returning to Baltimore he
opened an office at No. 21 Light street,

May 17, 1837, the first issue of Zke Sun ap-
peared. It was well received. The manner of
printing, as well as the news contained in it,
caused the paper to become instantly popular,
and within a year its circulation was twice as
large as that of the oldest paper in the city. It
was felt that the venture was a success, and that
therefore permanent quarters should be secured.
Accordingly, the firm purchased the southeast
corner of Baltimore and Gay streets, and removed
there in 1839, erecting the structure long known
as the ‘Old Sun’ building. That place, how-
ever, proved too small to long accommodate the
increasing business, and after a time it became
necessary to seek more commodious quarters,
where the facilities for managing the business
could be enlarged. The next location was on
the corner of Baltimore and South streets, where
the firm purchased property for about $50,000.
Here they erected a building constructed of iron,
at a time when business men generally were un-
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willing to try such an experiment, the feasibility
of iron structures being then uncertain. The
beauty and adaptability of this building attested
the discernment of Mr. Abell.

At the death of Mr. Simmons in 1855 the firm
became Swain & Abell. December 3, 1864, Mr.
Abell sold his interest in the Ledger.

In 1852 Mr. Abell introduced into his press-
room two Hoe type revolving cylinder presses,
the first that were successfully used in the world.
He also inaugurated the use of the famous pony
express, which rendered such notable service dur-
ing the Mexican war and at other times, and the
carrier pigeon express, which continued to be a
popular mode of sending messages until it was
superseded by the telegraph. Professor Morse
found in Mr. Abell a most zealous friend of the
telegraph; all the influence of 7%e Sun was ex-
tended in behalf of the invention, and the first
presidential message ever transmitted over the
wires was sent exclusively to 7#4e Sun on May
11, 1846, and published in its issue of next day.
As a matter of scientific history it4s interesting
to note that 7%e Swun's telegraphic copy of the
message was reprinted by the Academy of
Sciences at Paris side by side with an authenti-
cated transcript of the original. Amnother im-
provement introduced by Mr. Abell was the car-
rier system, by which catriers own their own
routes, a system that has been adopted by all the
other papers of Baltimore. In many respects he
was a pioneer in the newspaper business, and the
improvements he introduced and developments
he made caused the transformation of the entire
business, from composing-room to press-room.
He managed and conducted 7%e Swun for fifty
years, and on May 17, 1887, its semi-centennial
anniversary, he took into partnership with him
his three surviving sons: Edwin Franklin, George
William and Walter Robert Abell. Mr. A. S.
Abell died at his residence in Baltimore April 19,
1888, leaving his sons sole managers and pro-
prietors of Zhe Sun. After his death George W.
Abell became the principal manager of Zhe Sun,
Edwin F. Abell managing the real estate.

Walter Robert Abelldied January 3, 1891. On
Augustg, 18g2, Zhe Sun was incorporated as the

““A. S. Abell Co.,”” George W. Abell becoming
president and general manager. Upon the death
of George W. Abell, on May 1, 1894, Edwin F.
Abell became the president and general manager »
of the A, S. Abell Company.
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AMUEI H. TATTERSALIL, master of Con-
cordia T,odge No. 13, A. F. & A. M., and
supreme secretary of the Improved Order
Heptasophs, is very prominent in the fraternities
of this city, as has been clearly shown by the high
positions of trust and responsibility he has fre-
quently been called upon to fill. He is treasurer of
the Improved Order Heptasophs Publishing Com-
pany, of Wilmington, Del., which concern brings
out the official journal of the organization, sub-
scribed to by forty thousand or more members.
He is also identified with the Royal Arcanum,
the American Legion of Honor, the Ancient
Order of United Workmen and the Junior Order
United American Mechanics.

The birth of the above-named gentleman took
place in Philadelphia, April 13, 1866, his parents
being John and Alice (Lees) Tattersall, natives
of England, where they were married. They
came to America in 1863 and for three years re-
sided in the Quaker city, afterwards going to Tren-
ton, N. J. The father was a woolen manufacturer
until about 1894, when he retired to enjoy a well-
earned rest. He is ohe of the honored old «citi-
zens of Trenton, and has long been a member and
warden of St. Paul's Episcopal Church. He is
also high in Masonry, the Knights of Pythias,
the Odd Fellows’ society, and was one of the
founders of the Sons of St. George in America.
He celebrated the sixty-first anniversary of his
birth September 18, 1897, and his good wife is
fifty-nine years of age. Their daughter Sarah is
the wife of Joseph Turford, of T'renton; and a son,
James C., resides in the same city, being inter-
ested in the coal trade.

After completing his education in the public
schools of Trenton Samuel H. Tattersall attended
the Stewart and Hammond Business College of
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that place, graduating from the institution. He
had learned the pottery trade during his youth,
and later engaged in the decoration of fine china.
In 1884 he came to Baltimore, having accepted
an offer from the Maryland Pottery Company as
superintendent of their works, and this place he
filled acceptably until July, 1895, when he be-
came supreme secretary of the Heptasophs. He
was elected in May, 1897, his term to run until
June, 1899. It wasin 188¢ that he became a mem-
ber of Concordia Lodge, which is the oldest onein
the city, having been founded one hundred and
three yvears ago. Moreover, it has never ceased to
hold regular sessions, as many lodges did, during
the excitement consequent on the supposed Mor-
gan revelations, and many of the best business men
of the city have been connected with it, genera-
tion after generation. In 1896 Mr. Tattersall
was made master. He is a member of the Grand
Lodge, Adoniram Chapter No. 21, R. A. M.
He does not take much interest in politics, but is
strongly in favor of protection of American in-
dustries.

The marriage of our subject and Miss Anna
M. Hardy was solemnized in the Church of the
Holy Comforter in this city, April 20, 1887. She
was formerly a resident of Grantham, England,
and came to this country early in the ’8os with
her parents, who were agriculturists in the prime
of their lives, but are now retired. To Mr. and
Mrs. Tattersall were born four children, of whom
two, Alice M. and Samuel ILeslie, are living.
They are members of the St. Michael’s and All
Angels’ Church of Baltimore, and a few years ago
he was superintendent of the Sunday-school and
treasurer of the church of the Holy Comforter.

=

VEIRS MACE, M. D. The truth is widely
recognized that he serves God best who
serves his fellow-men. ‘There is no profes-
sion or line of business that calls for greater self-
sacrifice or more devoted attention than the med-
ical profession, and the successful physician is he,
who through love for his fellow-men gives his

time and attention to the relief of human suffer-
ing. In the Mace family we find several able
representatives of this noble calling and not least
among them is the subject of this sketch, who is
successfully engaged in practice in the twelfth
district.

In the house which he still occupies Dr. Mace,
of this review, was born in January, 1860, and is
the second son of Dr. William H. Mace, formerly
a prominent practitioner of the twelfth district,
whose birth occurred in the same house, where he
continued to reside throughout life. ‘This family
mansion is one of the finest places in Baltimore
County. Itis large and spacious, surrounded by
elegant grounds, and pleasantly located on an
elevation overlooking the country for miles
around. Itcommands a fine view of the bay and
Patapsco Neck, as well as Back River valley.

The Mace family is of English origin and was
founded in Dorchester County, Md., in the seven-
teenth century. There the grandfather of our sub-
ject, Dr. Charles Ross Mace, was born, but in early
life removed to the twelfth district, Baltimore
County, where he was numbered among the
leading early practitioners. He died at the old
home, called The Echoes, at the age of fifty-
seven years.

Dr. William H. Mace was educated in Wash-
ington University, of Baltimore, from which he
graduated with the class of 1846 and at once en-
tered upon the practice of his chosen profession
in his native district. In 1853 he married Miss
Henrietta M. Johnson, a daughter of William H.
and Eliza A. (Corrie) Johnson, of Talbot Coun-
ty, Md. To Dr. Mace and wife were born seven
children, four sons and three daughters, those
besides our subject being as follows: Elizabeth
M., who married Calvin Chestnut, of Baltimore,
and died in 1890, leaving one son, W. Calvin
Chestnut, an attorney of Baltimore; William
Johnson, now a resident of Philadelphia; Ella
Corrie; Florence Virginia; Charles Ross, a
prominent lawyer of Baltimore; and Carville V.,
who has just graduated at the University of
Maryland and entered upon the practice of medi-
cine. 'The mother, a cultured and refined lady,
is still living on the old home place; the father
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departed this life in March, 1889, and was buried
in the family graveyard. He was an influential and
prominent man of his locality, and in 1864 was a
member of the state constitutional convention.
His son, Charles Ross Mace, has also taken a
prominent part in political matters, and is now
chairman of the Republican executive committee
of Baltimore County. He married Miss Susan
Van Trump, and with his family resides near our
subject and on the same farm.

Dr. Mace, whose name introduces this review,
obtained his elementary education in the home
schools, was later a student in the Western Mary-
land University until 1877, and graduated from
the University of Maryland in 1884. Returning
home he entered into practice with his father,
and is now recognized as one of the most able and
skillful physicians and surgeons of Baltimore
County. He is an honored member of the Chi-
rurgical Society. His political support is given
the men and measures of the Republican party,
to which his father and grandfather also belonged.
In 1895 he was united in marriage with Miss
Clara V. Marsh, of Frederick County.

EV. CARI, FRITSCH, one of the most
brilliant ministers in the Evangelical Luth-
eran denomination, has been for three years

pastor of St. John’s Church, on Lombard Ex-
tended street, Baltimore. He seems to be es-
pecially gifted as a missionary and organizer of
congregations, and has had wide experience in
these lines. ‘The home church has been wonder-
fully prospered under his wise management, and
is steadily marching forward to yet greater achieve-
ments. His people are in complete harmony with
him, and are ably seconding his zealous efforts
for doing good, and bringing outsiders into the
fold of earnest Christian endeavor.

Born in Hesse-Darmstadt, Germany, Rev. Mr.
Fritsch is now in the prime of usefulness, as
he is but forty-three years of age. The date of
his birth is given in the records of his native town
as May 16, 1854. His parents, Rev. Wilhelm
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and Bertha Fritsch, never left Germany. 'The
former was a very active worker in the Master’s
vineyard, and that his life had an uplifting, en-
nobling influence upon all who came under his
power is shown by the notable fact that all of his
family, six sons, became ministers of the Gospel,
and are grand men. He died in 1891, aged sixty-
seven years, and is survived by his wife, who
resides with her sons in Germany. The Luth-
eran Church -being a part of the state work in
that country, the sons hold pulpits according to
government assignment. The eldest, Edward, is
a distinguished divine, a very energetic laborer
in the missionary field, and now located in Ber-
lin. Frederick is situated in Offenbach, Ger-
many. Johnisincharge of a church in Schwartz,
and Kmil is in Grebenau. Wilhelm, Jr., was at
one time for several years in Denver, Colo., but,
his health failing, he turned his attention to
literary work, and is living with his mother in
Germany. With the exception of the last-named,
the brothers are all married and the heads of
families.

Our subject served about a year and a-halfin the
German army and received a good education in
the schools of his home land and Switzerland.
After his graduation in 1879, he came to the
United States, and located in Duluth, Minn.,
where a congregation, formed some three years
before, had become disorganized and scattered.
Mr. Fritsch buckled on his armor, and went
zealously into the battle, with the result that
a flourishing congregation was soon assembled
in a new church building, with everything
in practical order. Next, he went to Lib-
erty Ridge, Grant County, Wis. It is now the
scene of great activity in a religious point of
view, for four churches are flourishing there
where but one weak congregation existed when
our subject went there as an organizer of the
feeble forces. Being recalled to Duluth, he would
have remained there for an indefinite period, had
not ill-health, induced by the rigor of the climate,
caused him to resign, and he was then placed
in charge of a church in Maysville, Ill. Two
years later he was called upon to form a new one
in the southern part of St. Louis, Mo., and as
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the outcome of his stay there, we find Ebenezer
Church, parsonage and school. His next step
was to assume charge of St. Paul’s, in New York
City, and in the succeeding four years, he started
three other mission churches there. December
15, 1894, he accepted a call from the people
whose spiritual adviser he has been ever since.
Great improvements have been made under his
supervision, on the church building and parson-
age, and during the summer of 1897 about $5,000
was expended in beautifying and enlarging the
structure. In 1896 some $2500 was devoted to
the Sunday-school rooms, and it would be hard
to find a more attractive place for children to
meet and study the Scriptures. The attendance
has perceptibly increased, the average number
being about seven hundred. When he came
here there were about one hundred and twenty
families enrolled in the membership, whereas
there are now one hundred and seventy-five.

May 4, 1881, Mr. Fritsch married Lydia Fotsch,
the daughter of Rev. Martin Fotsch, of Monroe,
Green County, Wis. The worthy couple have
three bright and promising children, Edward,
Carl and Leonie.

P
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ONALD McVICAR, the efficient superin-
tendent of the Bowley’s Quarter Ducking
Club and a well-known resident of the
twelfth district, was born March 21, 1854, in
Argyleshire, Scotland, which was also the native
place of his parents, Alexander and Mary (Mc-
Innes) McVicar. For more than thirty years his
father served as head gamekeeper for the Duke
of Argyle, whose grounds were about thirty miles
square and were filled with all kinds of game.
This position of great responsibility he most
capably filled, having great numbers of men
working under him at times, and being required
to give written reports to the Duke as to the exact
condition of everything.
The family of Alexander McVicar consisted of
five sons and three daughters, all of whom are
living in Scotland, except Donald. The latter

was reared among the beautiful hills of his native
land, and at the age of thirteen discontinued his
studies, which had been carried on in the schools
of Inverary, Argyleshire, laying aside his text
books to accept a clerkship in the iron works at
Coat Bridge. Later he became assistant super-
intendent of game under his father, and afterward
was chief superintendent for a year, remaining in
the service of the Duke for seven years. In1876
he was given the position of head gamekeeper
and sporting superintendent for the Duke of
Ieinster, of Carton Manor, counties Kildare and
Meath, Ireland, with whom he remained about
eleven years. ,

Thus well fitted by experience for his present
responsible position, Mr. McVicar come to
America in 1887 under a special contract with
Rutherford Stuyvesant, of New Jersey, with
whom he remained about five years. He then
embarked for himself in business, which he con-
ducted for one year. In 1892 Bowley’s Quarter
Ducking Club employed him to take charge of
their game and have the general management of
their grounds in the twelfth district of Baltimore
County. ‘The place contains over one thousand
acres of land, facing on the bay and all fenced in.
The club is composed of wealthy Philadelphia
gentlemen, who, previous to his taking charge of
affairs, had been very unfortunate in their efforts
to secure an able and well-qualified superintend-
ent.

Reared as a gamekeeper, Mr. McVicar is
thoroughly familiar with every department of
his work, and his services have been most ac-
ceptable to the club, which appreciates his worth
and fidelity to duty. He is now devoting con-
siderable attention to the raising of English
pheasants, having several thousand of them upon
the place, besides a great many other kinds of
game. It requires years of practice and experi-
ence to successfully raise pheasants, but at his
boyhood home, under the able direction of his
father, he became familiar with the work. As a
gamekeeper he has been unusually successful.

In 1877 Mr. McVicar married Mary A, M.
Guthrie, of Inverary, Argyleshire. To their
unjon ten children were born; Alexander G., the



52 GENEALOGICAL AND BIOGRAPHICAL RECORD.

eldest, is employed on the steamship Dago, ply-
ing the ocean between Baltimore and England.
The others, all of whom remain with their
parents, are: William Archibald, Juliet Stewart,
Innes Mary, Donald Malcolm, Guthrie James,
Charles Morrison, Alice Marion, Lewis Stewart,
and Tan Douglas is the name of the baby. Ian
is the Celtic for John. Since coming to America
Mr. McVicar has taken no active part in politics.
Fraternally he is a Mason and in religious con-
nections he and his wife are Episcopalians.
Since coming to the United States he has made
many warm friends.

ENRY J. HEBB, M. D., registrar of wills
for Baltimore County, was born January g5,
1842, at Tower Hill, the homestead of the

Hebb family in St. Mary County, Md., on the
Potomac river and some nine miles from Leon-
ardtown, the county seat. The family of which
he is a member was founded in America by two
brothers, William and Thomas Hebb, who emi-
grated from England prior to the Revolution and
made settlement in St. Mary County, becoming
the progenitors of all of this name in Maryland,
if not in the United States. They became leading
factors in the early history of the state, in which
their descendants have also figured prominently.
The father of our subject, Thomas, was a son of
William Hebb, both natives of St. Mary County
and farmers by occupation, also leading men of
their day in politics and public affairs.

The mother of Dr. Hebb was Caroline Wise,
whose father, an Englishman by birth and lin-
eage, came to America prior to the war of 1812,
and during that conflict was arrested as a subject
of Great Britain. He was taken back to his na-
tive land a prisoner and. confined in Dartmoor
prison until the close of the war, when he re-
turned to the United States, settling in St. Mary
County. He had three sons, two of whom set-
tled in Louisiana and one in Mississippi. James
A. Wise, a resident of Baton Rouge, held the
office of county sheriff prior to the Civil war and

later was commissary-generalin the Confederate
army. After the close of the war he was elected
to the Louisiana legislature. Both he and his
brothers were planters and men of influence and
prominence,

The family of which Dr. Hebb is a member
consisted of three sons and two daughters. The
three sons took part in the Civil war as soldiers
in the Confederate army. One of them, Dr. John
W., who was a member of a Louisiana regiment,
is now a practicing physician in Howard Coun-
ty. ‘Thomas A., who was a successful druggist,
left his business at the outbreak of the war in
1861 and joined the Confederate army, in which
he served until his death at Front Royal. The
only surviving sister is Anna, wife of George
Duke, of Baltimore. Reared at Tower Hill, our
subject received his education at Charlotte Hall
College, in St. Mary County. He chose the med-
ical profession and entered upon his studies with
earnestness, but they were broken into by the
Civil war. Entering the Confederate army, he
was commissioned first lieutenant in an artillery
regiment, but resigned his commission to become
a member of the First Maryland Regiment of
Confederate soldiers, under Col. Bradley John-
son. After having rendered considerable service
in the Confederate cause, while with his regiment
on the soil of his native state he was taken
prisoner by the Union army, but was soon
paroled. This ended his active participation in
the great conflict.

After the war our subject resumed his medical
studies and in 1872 graduated from Washington
Medical College, at Baltimore. Immediately he
opened an office at Randallstown, in this county,
where he has since engaged in practice when not
filling a political office. He has for years taken
a leading part in public affairs, being one of the
‘‘wheel-horses’’ of the Democratic party. For
about twelve years he has been chairman of the
county executive committee and at this writing is
a member of the state central committee. For
several years he was president of the board of su-
pervisors of elections of Baltimore County, but
resigned upon being elected registrar of wills. In
1885 he was chosen to fill the responsible position
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of county treasurer, and served for one term. In
the fall of 1893 he was elected registrar of wills
for Baltimore County, for a term of six years. In
addition to his practice and the part he has taken
in political natters, he is interested in many or-
ganizations and enterprises. He is a director of
the Home for the Feeble Minded, located at
Owings Mills, in this county, and the only insti-
tution of its kind in the state. Fraternally he is
a Knight of Pythias and is connected with other
orders. His first wife, who died in 1876, was
Anna A., daughter of David Jean. In 1882 he
was united in marriage with Miss Pheebe Hayes,
daughter of John S. Hayes, a farmer of Baltimore
County. Three children bless the union, namely:
Henry J., Jr., Elizabeth and Richard.

i e

APT. GEORGE ALLEN RAYNOR. The
standing of every profession is marked by
the character of the man who represents it.

As a seaman George A. Raynor has no superior,
and as captain of the steamboat Eastern Shore,
he is considerate and just. He was born at Free-
port, Queens County, L. I., December 1, 1836,
and there his father and grandfather, both of
whom bore the name of Allen, were born, and
followed farming as a livelihood. The paternal
great-grandfather was a native of the land that
gave to the world Scott and Burns, and many of
the thrifty instincts of the ‘‘canny Scot’” were
inherited by him. The mother of our subject
was formerly Miss Jane A. Smith. She makes
her home in Freeport, and has passed the eighty-
second milestone of her life. She became the
mother of nine children, only two of whom at
present survive. Elijah was a member of Com-
pany A, One Hundred and Thirty-ninth New
York Volunteer Infantry, and was killed at Cold
Harbor. Captain Henry belonged to the same
company, and died in Cape Charles City, Va.,
and was buried in Freeport, L. I. Charles B.
Raynor, also a member of that company, lives in
Freeport, the only other surviving son of his
parents.

In that town the subject of this sketch was
reared and there received a practical education in
the public schools. At the age of sixteen years
he became cabin boy on a vessel plying between
New York, Georgetown and Washington, and in
1856 he began discharging the duties of mate on
packet schooners between same points and New
Orleans, Charleston and South American points in
winter, and about 1858 became master of the
schooner Statesman. When the Civil war opened
he entered the government service and became
pilot on the Elm City, running from New York
south to southern points, and served in this ca-
pacity on different vessels until the war closed.
He was for about one year pilot of General
Butler’s staff boat Greyhound, and was also on
one of General Grant’s boats in the same capac-
ity during the last year of the war. He was
chosen for this position from a crowd of seventy-
five, and although the youngest of the number,
he was considered the best.

At the close of the war Captain Raynor be-
came skipper of the M. Martin for a New York
company, and for one year his run was between
Norfolk and Richmond. Following this he was
in the oyster and wrecking business at Norfolk
until 1867, when he became connected with the
Anna Messeck Iine of boats, now known as the
Baltimore, Chesapeake & Atlantic Line, being
first master of the Lady of the Iake and then of
the Cambridge and finally of the Old Massachu-
setts. When the Helen was completed he be-
came its commander and ran it ten years and ten
days, during which time he lost but one trip,
owing to the death of a sister. When the Fastern
Shore was completed he was placed in command,
but gave it up two years later to accept a like
position on the steamer Cape Charles, which ran
between Cape Charles and Norfolk. The com-
pany owning this boat discontinued the business
at the end of five years, and in 1891 Captain
Raynor again became master of the Eastern
Shore. His run now comprises about one hun-
dred and eighty miles, the round trip.

Captain Raynor was married in Norfolk, Va.,
to Miss Sarah Morton, a native of Newberne,
N. C., and daughter of Capt. John Morton, a
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prominent old seaman. They have three chil-
dren: George A., Jr., flagman of the Pennsyl-
vania Railroad Company; James E. T., who is
in the employ of the same steamboat company as
his father; and Charles B., now in the oyster bus-
iness in Baltimore,

ACOB DIMMITT NORRIS, M. D., one of
the most eminent and successful medical
practitioners of Baltimore, was born near

Bel Air, in Harford County, Md., August 1,
1843, and has had an interesting and eventful
career. He belongs to one of the oldest and
most distinguished families of the state, where it
was founded asearly as 1690 by Benjamin Nor-
ris, a grandson of Sir John Norris, admiral in
the British navy. He had been granted a large
tract of land in Maryland, and on his emigra-
tion took up his residence upon that place. His
son John, married Susannah Bradford. John
Norris’ son, Aquilla Norris, the great-grandfa-
ther of our subject, was a native of Harford
- County, where was also born his son, Rhesa M.
Norris, the doctor’s grandfather. ‘The latter, a
farmer by occupation, married Susan Dutton, a
Virginia lady, and died at the age of eighty
years. He always took an active part in church
work, and was recognized as one of the most
valued citizens of his community.

The doctor’s father, Lloyd A. Norris, was also
born near Bel Air, in Harford County, where he
spent his entire life, following the occupations of
farming, contracting and building with a fair de-
gree of success. He married Miss Mary Ann
Stansbury, of Baltimore County, a daughter of
Colonel Stansbury, who was an officer in the
war of 1812. Both parents were devout mem-
bers of the Methodist Church, took a prominent
partin all church or religious work,and were high-
ly respected by all who knew them. Mr. Norris
died at the age of forty-six, his wife at the age
of seventy-two years. In their family were five
children, namely: Jacob D., of this sketch; James
H., who is engaged in the insurance business

in Baltimore; Susan; Nellie, who died at the age
of thirty-five; and Mary, who died in infancy.

Upon the old homestead in Harford County,
Dr. Norris was reared in much the usual man-
ner of farmers’ boys, and completed his literary
education in the Springfield Institute of that
county. When about nineteen years of age he
entered the quartermaster’s department at Nash-
ville, T'enn., where he remained until the close
of the war and then went to St. Louis, Mo. In
the latter part of 1865 he left Ft. Leavenworth,
Kan., in charge of a wagon-train load of flour
for Ft. Union, N. M. When about forty miles
from Ft. Aubrey they were caught in a snow
storm, and as the cattle were frozen they were
compelled to walk nearly all the way back to Ft.
Leavenworth, where the doctor spent the winter.
The following spring he was in charge of forty-
two wagon loads of miscellaneous freight con-
signed to agents of Brigham Young, at Salt Lake
City. After spending a short time at the latter
place he went to Helena, Mont., in the winter of
1866, and there he was engaged in hunting and
trapping during the winter, when both flour and
salt were $1.25 per pound.

In the spring of 1867 Dr. Norris went to
Eldorado Bar, about fifteen miles from Helena,
where, as a member of a company, heengaged in
mining for a time, but subsequently sold out his
interest. ‘The mine afterward proved quite profit-
able. 'The doctor continued to engage in surface
mining and prospecting until his return to Mary-
land in 1869. In the spring of 1870, however,
he again went west to Bridger Pass in Gallaton
Valley, Mont., where he engaged in stock-raising
and farming for about a year. At the end of
that time he sold his ranch and turned his atten-
tion to freighting from Ft. Benton to Helena and
Deer Lodge. In 1872 he went to San Fran-
cisco, and later to Walla Walla, Wash., and for
about four years successfully engaged in teach-
ing school on the Pacific slope, principally in the
latter city.

On the 1st of July, 1876, Dr. Norris and a few
companions started overland on horseback for the
east by way of Snake River, Soda Springs, Utah,
to Laramie, thence over the Union Pacific Rail-



CHARLES G. HILL, A. M., M. D.



GENEALOGICAL AND BIOGRAPHICAL RECORD. 57

road to Baltimore. While teaching school in
Walla Walla, he had studied medicine for a year
or so with Dr. Nelson G. Blaylock, and in the
spring of 1877 entered the Maryland University,
where he attended medical lectures and grad-
uated the following year with the degree of M. D.
He has since successfully engaged in general
practice in Baltimore, his patrons being among
the best class of people in the western part of the
city.

Dr. Norris was united in marriage with Miss
Mollie Warfield, of Frederick County, Md., and
to them were born four children: Chester, who
died at the age of two years; Lester, Hazel and
Jessie, all residing with their parents. The
doctor gives his political support to the Demo-
cratic party, and during President Cleveland’s
second administration was president of the second
pension board of Baltimore. Since 1890 he has
been one of the commissioners of Franklin Square.
He is chief examiner for the Metropolitan Life
Insurance Company of New York, and has
been surgeon of the Fourth Maryland Regiment
of Baltimore since its organization. He is also
an honored and prominent member of the Balti-
more Medical & Surgical Society, and of the
Clinical Society. In social as well as professional
circles he occupies an enviable position, and is
deservedly popular with all classes of people.
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HARLES GERALDUS HILL,A.M.,M.D.,
president of the Baltimore Medical College,
ex-president of the Medical and Chirurgical

Faculty of Maryland, Physician-in-Chief of Mt,
Hope Retreat (the largest private insane asylum
in the country), and one of the most influential
citizens of the suburban town of Arlington, is a
member of an old southern family, long and

prominently associated with the history of this

country. ‘The first of the name in America
came from England in colonial days and after a
sojourn in Virginia removed to North Carolina.
Geeen Hill was a member of the provincial con-
gress and represented North Carolina in the

4

continental congress_from 1773 until 1776, after
which he entered the army and held the rank of
major in the war for independence.  In all state
and national problems of his day he took an
active part and his advice was repeatedly sought.

James J., son of Green Hill, was scarcely less
prominent than his father, and for many years
was a United States senator. Charles A., son of
James J., and grandfather of our subject, was
born in North Carolina, and in 1816 graduated
from the state university, after which he estab-
lished a private academy in Warrenton. His life
was principally devoted to literary pursuits, for
which his culture and keen intellect eminently
fitted him. He prepared and revised a grammar
that was published in 1818 and that was one of
the first books of the kind printed in the United
States. A copy of the work is now in the posses-
sion of Dr. Hill, by whom it is greatly prized.
Not only was he prominent in educational and
literary circles, but in political as well. He
represented his district in ‘the senate in 1823-24
and in 1825-26, and his record in that important
office was one reflecting the greatest credit upon
himself. His wife, Rebecca, was a daughter of
Col. Nicholas Long, who held the position of
commissary-general of North Carolina and also
served as congressman for many years, in that
responsible position doing all in his power to
bring about the independence of the colonies.
The seven children of Charles A. Hill removed
to different southern states, thus becoming scat-
tered.

Maj. Daniel S. Hill, the doctor’s father, was
born in Georgia and became a large planter in
North Carolina; also was the owner of plantations
in’ Georgia and Mississippi. Prior to the Civil
war he was one of the largest slave owners in the
south, and on one plantation alone had about
one hundred slaves. Politically he first advo-
cated Whig principles, but after the war upheld
Democratic ideas. He maintained a deep interest
in public affairs, and, in recognition of his ability
and sound judgment, he was entrusted by his
fellow-citizens with offices of responsibility. He
attended and was chairman of the first secession
meeting ever held in North Carolina, and that he
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was conservative is evidenced by resolutions
which he, in committee with other men of promi-
nence, drew up. His death occurred in August,
1873.

The doctor’s mother, Susan Irving Toole, was
a daughter of Geraldus Toole, who represented
one of the prominent families of North Carolina.
In 1750 Lawrence Toole settled in that state and
purchased the Shiloh place; his descendants
scattered through various southern states. Major
Hill and his wife were the parents of seven
daughters and three sons, namely: Louisa, wife of
Matthew Davis, of North Carolina; Madeline,
Mrs. James H. Bess, of the same state; Susan
Rebecca, deceased; Paulina, wife of Rev. John R.
Brooks, D. D., of North Carolina; Florence, wife
of Garland Jones, of that state; Isabella, who
married Walter Stark, also of that state; Caro-
line Toole, wife of Harry C. Painter, of Baltimore
County; William I., who is unmarried and re-
sides with his brother Charles; D. S., who mar-
ried Florence Hartman, of Baltimore; and Charles
Geraldus, of this sketch.

On his father’s plantation in Franklin County,
N. C., the subject of this sketch was born October
31, 1849. ‘The rudiments of his education were
secured in a private academy at Louisburg, N. C.
It was his intention to take a collegiate course,
but the chaotic condition of things during the
war and the reconstruction period rendered his
ambition a futile one. However, in 1868 he be-
came a student in the medical department of
Washington University, from which he graduated
in 1870. Afterward he was chosen resident
physician to the hospital on the corner of Calvert
and Saratoga streets, Baltimore (now the city
hospital), but poor health caused him to resign
the following year. He then came to Baltimore
County and established his home at what was
then known as Hook’s Town. This name was
so displeasing to him that he at once set about
securing a change, and after a long and arduous
effort he succeeded and the present name of
Arlington was adopted. In 1881 he was ap-
pointed assistant physician at Mt. Hope Retreat,
under the late Dr. William H. Stokes, whom he
afterwards succeeded, in 1886, as chief physician.
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In 1882 he was appointed lecturer on nervous
and mental diseases at the Baltimore Medical
College, and the following year was made pro-
fessor of anatomy and nervous diseases, but two
years later was again transferred to the professor-
ship of mental and nervous diseases, and also in the
same year was elected president of the college,
which position he now holds. In addition to
this position he has charge of an important private
practice and is consulting physician to the Mary-
land General Hospital, a Hebrew Asylum and
home for consumptives. In 1891 he was ap-
pointed member of the board of visitors to the
Home for the Feeble-Minded, and is also a mem-
ber of the board of the State Industrial Home for
colored girls.

With the various medical societies Dr. Hill
holds prominent connection. In 1895 aud 1896
he was president of the Medical and Chirurgical
Faculty of Maryland, and he is a member of the
American Medico - Psychological Association,
Clinical Society, Neurological Society and the
Book and Journal Club. Frequently he con-
tributes articles on medical subjects for publica-
tion, some of which have attracted widespread
attention. His services are in constant demand
for lectures in the different institutions with which
he is connected. Aside from professional work
he has numerous interests. He is a member of
the West Arlington Building, Loan and Savings
Association, the Green Spring Valley Hunt Club,
Athenzeum Club of Baltimore City, Sharon
Lodge of Master Masons, Druid Chapter, Royal
Arch Degree, and the Knights Templar, Beause-
ant Commandery. In politics he is a Democrat,
resolutely upholding party principles in success
and in defeat alike. ‘T'wice married, his first wife
was Isabella, daughter of Charles Painter, of this
county, and they had three children: Charles
Irving, a student in Baltimore Medical College;
Dudley S., who is attending Marston’s University
School; and Geraldus ‘Toole, also a student in
that institution. The doctor’s second marriage
united him with Mabel Painter, a sister of his
first wife, and they have two children, Milton P.
and Gladys.

It might be supposed, with the importance and
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number of his professional connectiorlls, Dr. Hill
would have no time for other matters, but not so;
he finds time, as a public-spirited citizen, to give
to the affairs of the nation and the questions
affecting our country to-day. One of his inter-
ests in science is the study of astronomy, and
many of his happiest hours are thus spent. June
23, 1881, he discovered a comet, and at once
telephoned his discovery to A. S. Abell & Co.,
publishers of the Swuz, who were thus able to
publish the fact to the world twenty-four hours
earlier than any other morning paper in the
world. In appreciation of this fact and in recog-
nition of the discovery, they presented the doctor
with a gold medal, one of the finest ever in the
county, and bearing the inscription:

THE SUN,
A. S, ABELL & CO.,
TO
CHARLES G. HILIL, M. D.
ARLINGTON,
BALTIMORE CO., MD.
To commemorate his discovery of the comet,
June 23, 1881.

The Sun published this description of the
medal: ‘‘Above the inscription is a shining star,
and the link is also a similar device, while from
the bottom of the disc is a pendant star. The
whole forms a really handsome and elegant
testimonial, the giving of which in recognition of
such a service as the one rendered by Dr. Hill
affords a great pleasure and satisfaction to the
proprietors of the Sun.”’

('\_._/@é%\»u_J
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ARRY E. PETERMAN, M. D., is a prac-
ticing physician of Baltimore, where he has
his office at No. 646 West Franklin street.

He makes a specialty of the treatment of diseases
of the eye, ear, nose and throat, but by no means
limits his attention to these particular diseases,
for he carries on a valuable and increasing gen-
eral practice. For his chosen profession he fitted
himself by a thorough medical course as well as

by subsequent reviews of journals. He isaclose
student of his profession and keeps in touch with
its every phase of development.

Dr. Peterman was born in Indiana County,
Pa., July 16, 1871, and is a son of Jeremiah and
Mary (Clark) Peterman, also natives of the same
county. His father has for years been one of the
leading farmers and extensive stock raisers of the
county, dealing in fine and blooded stock. Dur-
ing the course of the Civil war he enlisted as a
private in Company F, Two Hundred and Sixth
Pennsylvania Infantry, and served until the close
of the conflict, when he was honorably dis-
charged. At this writing he is living somewhat
retired from agricultural cares, but still main-
tains a general supervision of his interests. He
and his wife are earnest and faithful members of
the Washington Presbyterian Church.

The family of which Dr. Peterman is a member
consists of two daughters and two sons, he being
the youngest. Eliza, the eldest of the number,
is the widow of Albert Smith and resides in Indi-
ana County. Clara A., wife of John C. Nesbitt,
has lived in Johnstown, Pa., since the flood
there. Dr. James H. taught for four years in
the graded schools of his native county, meeting
with the highest success in the occupation. With
his brother, in 1892, he passed the state teachers’
examination and now holds a permanent state
certificate, which entitles him to teach anywhere
in the state throughout life. In 1895 he gradu-
ated from the Baltimore Medical College, with
the fourth honors of his class. Since then he
has engaged in practice at Cherry Tree, Grant
P. O., Pa. He married Jennie Wilhelm, of Indi-
ana County, that state.

Acquiring the rudiments of his education in
the public schools, the subject of this narrative
afterward became a student in the Indiana State
Normal School, of Pennsylvania, where he carried
on his studies for some time. With his brother,
as above stated, he received a permanent state
certificate in 1892. As a teacher he was efficient
and painstaking and histhree years’ laborsin that
occupation reflect credit upon his ability. The
work was interesting and pleasant, but he wished
to make medicine his life calling, and accordingly
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turned his attention to its study. He read for a
time under Dr. James A. Bryson, of Creekside,
Pa., a practicing physician and surgeon of that
-village. Iater he attended Baltimore Medical
College, of which David Streett, M. D., is dean.
In the spring of 1895 he completed the course,
standing seventh and taking the seventh prize in
a class of one hundred and seven students. After
graduation he was made resident physician in the
Baltimore Eye, Far and Throat Charity Hos-
pital, which position he still holds, in addition to
attending to his private practice. Having passed
a creditable examination before the state medical
board, he holds a certificate from the Council of
Pennsylvania which entitles him to practice medi-
cine and surgery in that state. In politics he
takes no interest as a partisan, but he keeps well
posted concerning public questions and at elec-
tions votes the Republican ticket. In the West-
minster Presbyterian Church, where he holds
membership, he is a member of the board of trus-
tees and a teacher in the Sunday-school.

APTAIN JOHN RAU. This retired citizen
of Highland, was born in Gravinstein,
Hesse-Cassel, Germany, September 15, 1828,

and is a son of John C. Rau, also a native of that
country and a blacksmith by trade, which occu-
pation he followed the greater part of his life.
He was a soldier in the Franco-German war and
was in the regular army of his native country
for over twenty years., He was also an active
participant in the Revolutionary war and the
war of 1812. His death occurred in 1833. His
wife was Miss Philipine Kahler, a native German,
and to them were born four sons and one
daughter, the latter of whom died in Germany,
as did the eldest son, William. George D. came
to this country, became a merchant tailor, and
died about fourteen years ago. Henry Rau,
another son, is in business in Baltimore.

John Rau, the subject of this sketch, was left
fatherless when about six years of age, and until
about fifteen years of age he was an attendant of
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the village school. Hs then began learning the
wheelwright’s trade with his brother William,
with whom he remained for three and a-half
years. In 1848 he joined the German army, be-
coming a member of the cavalry, and almost from
the first held the rank of corporal. He was in
the service for about five years. In 1852 he
decided to seek his fortune in America and came
direct to Baltimore. The little capital that he
had he invested in tools for his business and
began working at his trade. He located near
the Bel Air market and his business began rapidly
to increase. He finally branched out into the
restaurant business, which he continued until
1867, meantime amassing a considerable amount
of property and becoming the owner of several
fine business houses.

In 1867 he sold his city property and moved to
Highland, where he embarked in the wheelwright
and general blacksmith’s business and again
commenced to invest in real estate, At the
present time he is the owner of a large number
of fine brick residence buildings and business
houses. His business is conducted in a fine
three-story brick business house on the corner of
First street and Eastern avenue, besides which he
owns and resides in a handsome brick residence.
He has been a member of the State militia for
over twenty years, and organized a cavalry com-
pany of his own of which he was the captain for
over sixteen years. In 1876 his company made
him a present of a fine sword.

March 26, 1854, Captain Rau married Miss
Elmira Schluderberg, a native of Germany, a
history of whose family is given in the sketch of
William Schluderberg. To them five children
have been given, all of whom are married and
living in homes of their own, Mary is the wife
of P. H. Wagoner; William is in the postal serv-
ice in Baltimore; Annie is the wife of Thomas
Roe; Kate is the wife of Frederick Heim, and
John, the youngest of the family, is in the flour
and grocery business.

Captain Rau has been a Republican in his po-
litical views ever since coming to this country,
and since 1852 has been a member of the Odd
Fellows’ fraternity. He was one of the organizers
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of the Order of Red Men, of Highland, in which he
has held all the chairs, and he is a member of the
Legion of Red Cross. He and his wife belong to
the German Lutheran Reformed Church, of Can-
ton. He deserves commendation for the success
to which he has attained, financially, socially
and otherwise, for he came to this country a poor

boy, unfamiliar with the English language, and

has made a success of his life. He is popular
and highly respected, and is now in the enjoy-
ment of a competency which his early industry
brought him.

R. J. C. HUMMER, No. 621 North Carroll-
ton avenue, Baltimore, was born in Loudoun
County, Va., October 1o, 1833, and is of

honorable southern lineage. His parents, Capt.
Washington and Martina B. (Fox) Hummer,
were natives of the same county as himself, and
were highly respected as people of unblemished
character and sincere Christian belief. The old
Baptist church near their home was their place of
worship and to its doctrines and requirements
they adhered with the utmost strictness. For
many years Captain Hummer held the office of
presiding magistrate. The title by which he was
always known was given him when he served as
a militia captain. He died at the age of sixty-
five and his wife when eighty-five. Of their ten
children four are now living: J. C., George W,
F., Braden E. and Annie R. G. W. F. and
Braden E. entered the Confederate army and took
part in many of the leading battles. George W.
F., who was a soldier of most wonderful daring,
was retained as a courier for General Hunton,
to whom he rendered wvaluable service, often
at greatest risk to himself. He now resides in
Washington, D. C., while the other brother,
Braden E., lives in Virginia.

In a private school taught by Professor Potts,
in Loudoun County, the subject of this sketch
obtained his education. When quite young he
identified himself with the Methodist Episcopal
Church South, and, wishing to enter the ministry,

was admitted to the Virginia conference. For
twenty-five years he labored indefatigably in
Virginia and Maryland, meantime aiding largely
in the growth of his church and the advancement
of the kingdom of Christ. His last pastorate was
in Frederick City, Md., where overwork brought
on nervous prostration. While in his pulpit one
Lord’s day, he fell unconscious and was carried
by loving hands to his home, where for some time
the issue of life or death was uncertain, but finally
his robust constitution enabled him to rally.
Since then, though unable to hold pastorates, he
has often preached to congregations in his neigh-
borhood, and is still doing a most effective serv-
ice, especially along the line of prohibition. He
is now connected with the branch of Methodists
known as the United Evangelical Church. Dur-
ing his long connection with religious work, he’
has received thousands into the church and has
officiated at thousands of funeral services. In-
tensely interested in securing the downfall of the
liquor traffic, he works untiringly for prohibition.
His maiden speech on the subject was delivered
July 4, 1857. On that day there were in his pul-
pit two Baptist ministers who advocated the
licensing of saloons, a fact that so aroused him
that he immediately plunged into a spirited talk,
bringing forth logical reasoning and speaking
with such burning eloquence as to win the day.

Under Dr. Alfred Hughes our subject read
medicine, and through the influence of that gen-
tleman he began in practice. He soon had many
patients under his care, and his skill in the
treatment of diseases brought him the confidence
of all. Before he put out his ‘‘shingle,”” he had
a practice worth $40 perday. Since 1874 he has
engaged in practice constantly. In addition to
his private practice he has compounded a num-
ber of proprietary medicines, among them a
diphtheria remedy, that has never failed to con-
quer that dread disease; cough and consumption
remedy; pile lotion; and a digestive remedy that
is the sine gua non of all who have once tried it;
a croup syrup that cures even membranous croup
after all other remedies fail; and a cholera rem-
edy that has proved ver